Environmental Governance in the

ARCTIC

A case study of Norwegian stakeholders engagement in environmental governance:

"The Repparfjord mining project controversy"

ANNA MILLIONOVA HVISTENDAHL VASILIKI STAVROGLOU



May 2019

STANDARD FORSIDE TIL

EKSAMENSOPGAVER

Udfyldes af den/de studerende

Prøvens form (sæt kryds):	Projekt	Synopsis	Portfolio	Speciale	Skriftlig
				Х	hjemmeopgave

Uddannelsens navn	Development and International Relation, Arctic Studies Specialisation.		
Semester	10. Semester		
Prøvens navn (i studieordningen)	Speciale		
Navn(e) og fødselsdato(er)	Navn	Studienummer	Fødselsdato (Ikke CPR- nummer – kun 6 cifre: dd/mm/åå)
	Anna Millionova	20170270	25/03/1986
	Vasiliki Stavroglou	20171573	25/05/1987
Afleveringsdato	30/05/2019		
Projekttitel/Synopsistitel/Speciale- titel	Environmental Governance in the Arctic: the case study of Norwegian stakeholder engagement in environmental governance. "The Repparfjord" mining project controversy.		
I henhold til studieordningen må opgaven i alt maks. fylde antal tegn	240.000		
Den afleverede opgave fylder (antal tegn med mellemrum i den afleverede opgave) (indholdfortegnelse, litteraturliste og bilag medregnes ikke)*	123.491		
Vejleder (speciale)	Ulrik Pram Gad		

Jeg/vi bekræfter hermed, at dette er mit/vores originale arbejde, og at jeg/vi alene er ansvarlig(e) for indholdet. Alle anvendte referencer er tydeligt anført. Jeg/Vi er informeret om, at plagiering ikke er lovligt og medfører sanktioner.

Regler om disciplinære foranstaltninger over for studerende ved Aalborg Universitet (plagiatregler): <u>http://plagiat.aau.dk/GetAsset.action?contentId=4117331&assetId=4117338</u>

Dato og underskrift: 30/05/2019 Anna Millionova

Vasiliki Stavroglou

Millionovof

Abstract

Keywords: Environmental policy, Environmental Governance, Public Administration, Decentralisation, Norway, Ecosystems, Mining.

This thesis explains environmental governance of the ecosystems by applying the public administration theory and explores the weakness of environmental policies, and stakeholder's engagement in the process of adapting to the guidelines from the international and scientific community. Norway presents a success story of a decentralised state and environmental governance. They have adopted environmental policies, which allocates responsibilities to local authorities and supports cross-sectoral participatory decision-making processes. However, the case study including the Repparfjord mining project points out several implications of environmental governance.

Firstly, the case study shows that the knowledge which has been produced for the assessment reports and has been central to the ongoing conflict between the stakeholders for nine years. Secondly, it appears that different types of knowledge can overlap each other, resulting in undermining the power of the most influential and knowledgeable stakeholders. Moreover, the involvement of different stakeholders creates a space where power, interest, and opinions collide. Thus, resulting in the situation where stakeholders cannot agree, and the executive power and decision is transferred to the central government. Lastly, it is argued that decentralisation creates obstacles to the processes of effective resolutions, particularly in environmental issues. Similar implications appear between the Arctic states. Arctic governance is weak and slow in coordinating environmental issues. The diverse institutional systems among the Arctic states is a fundamental obstacle to transform regional decisions into national policies. This influence the global environmental politics negatively because there are too many stakeholders that are involved in the Arctic affairs.

Therefore, further scientific research is needed to elaborate whether decentralisation or centralisation is the best approach to environmental governance and policy making. Moreover, another research is required in clarifying whether or not there should be executive power of decisions in the Arctic Council.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
List of Abbreviations	v
Acknowledgements	vi
1 Introduction	7
2 Research design	10
2.1 Research problem and Methodology	10
2.2 Chapters overview	12
3 Theory	14
3.1 Theory of governance	14
3.2 Environmental Governance	17
3.3 Theoretical framework	19
3.3.1. Information	20
3.3.2. Legitimacy	20
3.3.3 Social dynamics	21
3.3.4 Costs	22
3.3.5 Stakeholders	22
3.4 Criticism to the theory	23
4 Method	25
4.1 Data Collection	25
4.1.1 Governmental sources	25
4.1.2 Academic articles	27
4.1.3 Media publications	27
4.2 Data Analysis	
5 Analysis	29
5.1 Norwegian environmental policy	29
5.1.1 The Action Plan for Sustainable Development	31
5.2 Instruments	33
5.2.1 Economic instrument	
5.2.2 Information instrument	

5.2.3 Administrative instruments	
5.3 Policy for Sustainable development	
5.3.1 Biological diversity and the Cultural heritage	35
5.3.2 Natural resources	35
5.3.3 Action Plan for Biodiversity	
5.4 Overview of Norwegian Acts	
5.4.1 Cultural Heritage Act	
5.4.2. Pollution Control Act	
5.4.3 Marine Resource Act	
5.4.4 Planning and Building Act	
5.4.5 Nature Diversity Act	
5.4.6 The Finnmark Act	
5.4.7 Environmental Impact Assessment	
5.5 Local Government	
5.6 Sub-conclusion	41
5.7 Background of the Repparfjord conflict	
5.7.1 Nussir ASA	
5.8 Stakeholders	
6 Findings	51
6.1 First phase	
	51
6.2 Second phase	
	52
6.3 Third phase	57
	57
7 Discussion	
	62

List of Abbreviations

- **AP** Assessment Programme
- **CE** Climate and Environment
- **CP** Conservative Party
- Cr Chromium
- Cu Copper
- **CD** Christian Democratic
- **CEO** Chief Executive Officer
- DMA Directorate of Mineral Administration
- **DoF** Directorate of Fisheries
- e.g. For example
- EU European Union
- EBA Ecosystem Based Approach
- EIA Environmental Impact Assessment
- FeFo Finnmark Estate
- IA Impact Assessment
- ILO International Labour Organisation
- LP Liberal Party
- LGM Local Government and Modernisation
- MDA Ministries, Departments and Agencies
- MRI Marine Research Institute
- MPAs Marine Protected Areas
- MSP Marine Spatial Planning
- Ni Nickel
- NEA Norwegian Environmental Agency
- NGOs Non-Governmental Organisations
- PA Pollution Act
- PM Prime Minister
- PP Progress Party
- PCA Pollution Control Act
- **SD** Sustainable Development
- SP Stakeholders Participation

- TIF Trade, Industry and Fisheries
- **UN** United Nations
- **UNDP** United Nations Development

Programme

- **USD** United States Dollar
- vs Versus

Acknowledgements

This thesis was written between February 2019-May 2019 and has been a process under which we have grew professionally and personally.

We would like to thank our supervisor *Ulrik Pram Gad* that have contributed greatly to the whole process. His shared his expertise, knowledge and consulted us throughout these long months of hard work. We appreciate highly your input to our research and thank you for your time and patience in this process.

Additionally, we would like to thank *Anders Vieth Rør* for giving his permission to use his thesis findings, as supplementary to the finding to our paper. We believe that it is important for the young researches to help each other and your work has helped us greatly.

At last, special thanks to *Christine Myrseth* with providing a relevant information to this thesis and the *Arctic Frontiers* conference that gave inspiration for the topic of this research.

This process was and inspiring journey for both of us that made our friendship grew stronger. We learned many valuable lessons and for that, we thank the Aalborg University and particularly professors from the Arctic Studies, which in many ways brought us to where we are

1 Introduction

The thesis' main topic is inspired by the emerged environmental impacts that have been caused by the rapid processes of modernisation and globalisation. These developments increased the role of the environment as the global political issue in the last decades (Eckersley 2017:494).

Therefore, the role of global environmental politics became critical in addressing the environmental issues such as climate change and ecosystem degradation (Lemos&Agrawal 2006:298), which have been introduced in the environmental politics by the key discourses such as *limits to growth, sustainable development*¹, *ecological security, environmental justice* and *planetary boundaries* (Eckersley 2017:493).

The World Commission on Environment and Development (WECD) known as Brundtland report (United Nations 1972) defined sustainability as "*development that meets the need of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs*" (Brundtland 1987). In other words, the long-term sustainable management and the responsible use of natural resources are mandatory to preserve the environment.

The lack of regulation of human activities and the increasing conflicts over the division of natural resources among nations have raised concerns about environmental degradation, preservation of natural resources and what is left after the impacts of human activities (Garcia et al. 2003:1).

Therefore, the community worldwide have reached a consensus in recognition of the fact that the environmental and ecological are factors that are directly linked to socioeconomic development (Haque 2000)

In 2005, the *Millennium Ecosystem Assessment*² report evaluated the consequences on human well-being caused by ecosystem change. Furthermore, they have evaluated how

¹ Sustainable development – SD further in the text

² Published under UN Secretary in collaboration with UN Environmental Programme. It was initiated in 2001, with main objective to assess the impacts of ecosystem change for human well-being. Moreover, on the basis on the scientific research propose sets of actions that needed to enhance the conservation and sustainable use of ecosystems. Source: https://www.millenniumassessment.org/en/About.html#

the human impacted the ecosystems and how the ecosystems impact the human activities (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2015: ii).

The findings of the report suggested actions for achieving sustainable management of ecosystems. Firstly, by targeting institutions and governing systems, due to their ineffective arrangements³ (Ibid:92) and secondly, focusing on economics and incentives, social and behavioral factors, technology, knowledge, and cognition. At last, the decision makers suggested considering and including the knowledge of ecosystems in the decisionmaking process and outcomes.

The main challenge to the relationship between the ecosystems and human activities is the economic gains, and as a result, sixty percent of all ecosystems used unsustainably (Lemos&Agrawal 2006:317). This factor linked to the ecological changes that in return, affects the number of diseases, fisheries collapse, alteration of water quality, and regional climate shifts. Consequently, the need for sustainable use of the ecosystems caused a paradigm shift in management of natural resources in the last decades.

Previously the state had a responsibility to manage ecosystems and the natural resources. However, the concerns about the loss of biodiversity, deforestation, overfishing, and other environmental damage that has been caused by the human activities, required from governments to be more inclusive and participatory and include the stakeholders from other sectors in the decision-making process (Ibid:317).

Meaning all stakeholders are responsible for actions in order to change the human impacts on the environment, while reducing the economic gains from the ecosystems. At the same time, the different type of knowledge needs to be integrated into process (AMAP 2017: ix) and outcomes of decision-making in order to close the gaps in missing knowledge (NIVA Report 2019).

The Arctic is a region where profound impacts on a fragile ecosystem exists that have been caused by the changing climate (Nordic Council 2019 ; Blaesbjerg et al. 2009:52) technological development and global economic demand of natural resources (Atkisson et al. 2018:11). These impacts caused shifts to the environment, traditional livelihood and economic activities in the Arctic, creating challenges and the need for adequate knowledge in order to mitigate these impacts (AMAP 2017).

³ Including corruption, weak rule of law and accountability

Recent scientific reports from different research groups in the Arctic⁴ have proposed urgent actions to policymakers to decline these activities, for the sake of preservation of the ecosystem. However, Arctic governments have been slow to implement these guidelines into their national policies, as it was suggested by the scientific community (Atkisson et al. 2018:55).

Another criticism of the national environmental policies stated in the recent WWF⁵ report: "*development in the Arctic is not going towards sustainable direction since its processes do not make good use of the experience of people who have lived in the region the longest and know it best and its knowledge not integrated into the policy*" (Atkisson et al. 2018:55). This statement stresses out the lack of inclusion of the different type of knowledge in the decision-making process for ecosystem management and natural resources.

Meanwhile, the changing Arctic (Carson & Peterson 2016) offers new economic opportunities in the region, which put further pressure on the ecosystem. Therefore a close collaboration between the sectors and all relevant stakeholder is required to manage the increasing activities in the area (Atkisson et al. 2018).

To achieve cross-sectoral collaboration in addressing environmental issues, some scholars argue that decentralisation of public administration is required since it can contribute to the utilisation of more flexible and effective measures to include the local knowledge in addressing regional disparities and environmental degradation (Kim & Yoon 2018:1062). Furthermore, decentralisation increases accountability (Kim & Yoon 2018) and alongside with active participation of local communities in the decision-making process can reinforce official's accountability (Ibid).

Hence, this thesis studies the interlinkages between environmental and socialeconomic development and its impact on the ecosystem. Furthermore, it seeks to explain the effective institutional arrangements that are necessary to engage all relevant

⁴ Arctic Biodiversity Assessment; Arctic Climate Impact Assessment; AACA Barents Area; AMAP Assessment 2013; Arctic Ocean Acidification; Arctic Human Development Report; Snow, Water, Ice and Permafrost in the Artic (SWIPA) 2017; The Economy of the North 2015; AACA Baffin Bay/ Davis Straight Region; AACA Bering, Chuckhi, Beoufort Region; Arctic Resilience Report.

⁵ "Getting it right in a new ocean: Bringing Sustainable Blue Economy Principles to the Arctic" 2018

stakeholder and their knowledge in addressing environmental issues. Therefore, the main problem of this paper is the following:

How are stakeholders from cross sectors involved in the decision-making process of contemporary environmental governance, and what are the implications in the governance process?

2 Research design

The research design presents the structure of the logical matter in which this research based on (Vaus 2001:16). In the first part, the research problem guides the process of the research, the analysis, and the methodological stances explained. The second part introduces the overview of the chapters.

2.1 Research problem and Methodology

The main purpose of the thesis requires studying environmental policy, particularly on the ecosystem, which requires participatory management of natural resources.⁶

Therefore, the theory of governance under the Public Administration Theory has been applied to describe the administrative processes of the public sector related to environmental considerations. The theory presents environmental governance as an explanation of the shift in public sector towards more participatory processes.

There are various concepts⁷of "*governance*"(Rhodes 2000:5), depending on the inquiry of study. However, the *socio-cybernetic* governance was applied in this study since it explains the shift of government from being *centric* to *participatory*⁸. Henceforth, it is required to analyse relevant policies, its processes, and outcomes (Ibid).

⁶ Forest, oceans, coastal waters and fresh water systems.

⁷ The minimalist state, corporate governance, the new public management, good governance, international interdependence, socio-cybernetics, and networks (Rhodes 2000:6)

⁸ A further explanation on the socio-cybernetic governance is described in the theory part Chapter 3.

The main research question of this thesis is explanatory and adheres to the method of a case study (Yin 2008:9). It aims to explain phenomenon based on contemporary events, on which the investigator has little or no control (Ibid:11.).

This methodological choice has been selected strategically in order to study participatory governance in the environmental policy. Therefore, it requires an in-depth analysis of a governance process over a certain period time.

The case of the Norwegian environmental governance was selected for this thesis. It represents the success story in achieving sustainability internationally. Whereas, on the national level Norway commits to the participatory, inclusive and representative decision-making since it is a key to a well-functioning society (Agenda 2030 2016). The state of Norwegian ecosystems is considered good, and achieved by the management of administrative, economic and legal frameworks (Ibid). Moreover, it prides itself as a country that holds great expertise on the management of marine resources and particularly in the environmental issues.⁹

The Norwegian government implemented the Sustainable Development Action Plan in 2004 and adopted sets of environmental approaches including the ecosystem approach (APSD 2004:20) to the management of forests, oceans, coastal waters, and freshwater systems.

Furthermore, the current legal framework requires from management authorities to take into consideration not only scientific knowledge but also "*experience-based knowledge derived from the use of nature, hereunder such Sami use, and which can contribute to sustainable use and conservation of biodiversity*¹⁰" in the decision-making process (Brattland 2013:39).

At the same time, environmental issues are complex. Particularly in cases where socioeconomic development and inclusion of the different type of knowledge can poses challenges. Therefore, this case does not only describe success in achieving SD but it also presents conflicts that arise between stakeholders and their relationship. Moreover, this research investigates the inclusion of the different type of knowledge in the environmental decisions (scientific, local, and traditional).

⁹ Accessed April 4 2019 from https://www.regjeringen.no/en/aktuelt/the-ocean--norways-proud-history/id2615839/

¹⁰ Nature Diversity Act 2009, §8, translation from Norwegian by Camilla Brattland in 2013

The environmental conflict used in this study has recently been discussed in the national and international media, known as "*Repparford*"¹¹ mining project by Nussir ASA in Kvalsund Municipality. The project is one of the most significant mining projects in the history of Norway. At the same time, it is the second-largest conflict after Alta conflict in 1970, since its threat that possesses to the National salmon fjord. The company was granted an operation license by the local and central government that allows disposing the tailing waste into the fjord waters in the period for over 25 years.

Furthermore, it is necessary to mention the criticisms towards case studies based on the opinion that a single case study cannot be generalised and contribute to science at this level (Flyvbjerg 2006:228). Whereas, it can be argued that the research of this particular thesis can contribute to an overall study of environmental policies, the decision-making processes, and its outcomes.

Even though the study is based on a single country, it describes the process of decentralisation of public administration, which leads to the adaptation of more inclusive and participatory principles. The conflicts that arise in one single case cannot necessarily be generalised since the outcome varies in every case however, it contributes to the overall more profound understanding of the issues and complexities of participatory processes in environmental issues (Brattland 2013).

Therefore, it can strongly be argued that the case study of Norwegian environmental governance in this paper could not be perceived as a random sample (Flyvbjerg 2006:229), and this paper can contribute to future investigations of the Arctic region related sustainability and participatory governance in the environmental politics.

2.2 Chapters overview

The theoretical part¹² firstly presents the theory of governance and the definition. Secondly, the environmental governance and theoretical framework adopted from Wittmer et al. (Wittmer et al. 2006) included in this part. Decision-making process, in this study it is not only defined by the outcome but by the decision process as a whole. The theoretical

¹¹ Know legally as "Nussir ASA" case

¹² See Chapter 3 page 15

framework, which was applied in the findings chapter,¹³ was based on the following four criteria: *information management, legitimacy, social dynamics and costs.*

The Method chapter¹⁴ includes an explanation on the choice of sources and data collection methods. This research uses three types of sources (Yin 2008:102) such as: official sources, media sources, and academic papers, from which the qualitative data have been collected.

The sources have a different purpose in different stage of analysis. Therefore, the official sources are treated both as a representation of how it happened in real life e.g., official documents. However, the governmental statements that used in the analysis, they have been treated as self- representation. The media sources were only used for self-representation purposes.

Governmental sources – policies, ministerial documents, official statements, instruments and public journals. These documents provide official information on regulations and legal decisions. The time frame that is selected for official sources is from 2004 to nowadays.

Media sources – media articles from a journalist point of view presents perspectives and opinion relevant to the conflict. The time frame that was applied for data extraction of media sources is from 2012 until today, relevant to the conflict.

The *academic journals were* used as supplementary information to the analysis findings and strengthen the validity of the findings.

Academic papers - scientific papers and articles used to include scientific knowledge and research. The journals that selected firstly, by typing keywords as mentioned above¹⁵ and by applying the same timeframe to official sources (2004-nowadays).

In the analysis chapter,¹⁶ the first part presents the regulatory system and legal framework of Norway since 2004. The second part of the analysis is focusing on the conflict, introducing the historical development and following by the stakeholder analysis.

¹³ See page 52

¹⁴ See Chapter 4 page 26

¹⁵ Environmental policy, Environmental Governance, Public Administration, Decentralisation, Norway, Ecosystems, Mining.

¹⁶ See chapter 5

Stakeholders in this study were defined as both: actors that make decisions, and actors who are impacted by the decision outcomes (Wittmer et al., 2006:6). The purpose of stakeholder analysis is to identify and describe the main stakeholders of the conflict. Furthermore, it helps in understanding interaction between the stakeholders throughout the conflict.

Once the stakeholder analysis is complete, the findings applied to the Wittmer's et al framework. In this findings chapter¹⁷, the framework used to identify weaknesses and implications. The Discussion¹⁸ and Conclusion¹⁹ include a summary of the whole thesis research.

3 Theory

In the recent years, Public Administration theory has gone through a transformation, due to reforms in the public sector (Kjær 2011:101). As a result, the role of government has shifted, whereas the term governance is often used in the scientific papers ever since. Hence, this chapter describes the concept of governance used in this paper.

3.1 Theory of governance

Both government and governance share the same agenda. However, the main difference between them is who has the executive power. In government, it can only be the governmental entities within the public administration, whereas in governance it can vary from governmental to NGO's or arrange as a joint entity of governmental and private organisations (Keping 2017:3).

According to Rhodes,²⁰ governance "changes the meaning of government" and refers to new process of governing, or a changed condition of the ordered rule, or the new method by which society is governed" (Rhodes 1996:653).

¹⁷ See chapter 6

¹⁸ See chapter 7

¹⁹ See chapter 8

²⁰ Rod Rhodes – a British professor that has contributed to governance theory, particularly in the Public administration. Moreover, he introduced the concept of governance and theories about the changes during the long period of reforms.

The interests of government and governance are not the same, however. The government represents its agenda, whereas the focus of governance is on society and its issues as a whole (Keping 2017:3).

In general, "governance concerns how society organizes to solve public problems, set policies, allocate resources, and produce public goods" (Brinkerfhoff 2013:97). It is a consensus-based decision on how the administration should be in order to provide well-being to its beneficiaries.

Various scholarly works use the "term" governance. Rhodes dedicated his work to summarise various concepts of governance, that is mostly used in the scientific articles and separated seven different meanings of governance based on its uses: (a) *the minimalist state*, (b) *the new public management*, (c) good governance, (d) *international interdependence*, (e) *socio-cybernetic*, (f) *network* (Rhodes 2000:5).

The most appropriate explanation of the governance for this paper is the *socio-cybernetic* system. Rhodes (1996) building on Kooiman (Kooiman 1993:258) explained that the governance as "socio-political" system that is "*a common result of the interacting interventions of all actors involved. This pattern cannot be reduced to one actor of a group of actors in particular* (Kooiman (a) 1993)."

As a result, the actions of the central government have no direct impact on the policy outcome. The central government has regulative power. However, it has constant interaction with all relevant stakeholders from the public, private voluntary sector, where they also interact with each other (Rhodes 1996:657).

Furthermore, Kooiman states that the interaction in governance based on:

"...the recognition of (inter)dependencies. No single actor, public or private, has all knowledge and information required to solve complex, dynamic and diversified problems; no actor has sufficient overview to make the application of needed instruments effective; no single actor has sufficient action potential to dominate unilaterally in a particular governing model (Kooiman (a) 1993:4)."

This statement explains that every actor in the particular policy is dependent on each other knowledge, meanwhile should contribute equally. The knowledge and resources are not possessed by a singular actor. It is a system of sharing and contribution to the policy (Rhodes 1996:657).

15

The figure below (*Figure 1*), visually explains the allocation of roles and responsibilities of stakeholders in a governance system.



Figure 1: Governance Framework. Source: Glasbergen et al. 2013:98

From the public administration perspective, the government's role is to promote an inclusive collaboration with the private sector and civil society to provide effective public services and infrastructures.

The private sector's role is to promote economic growth by providing opportunities and employment through close collaboration with the public sector. In other words, public administration should be *decentralised, responsive, flexible, and participatory*" in order to close the gap between the state and the citizens (Brinkerhoff 2013:98).

Thus, society has a stronger voice in governance that contributes to more efficient and effective collaborations between stakeholders. It is evident that principles of governance contribute to the decentralised and participatory process.

Some scholars argue that decentralisation of public administration is required since it can contribute to the utilization of more flexible and effective measures to include the local knowledge in addressing regional disparities and environmental degradation (Kim & Yoon 2018:1062). Furthermore, decentralisation increases accountability and alongside with active participation of local communities in the decision-making process can reinforce official's accountability (Ibid).

3.2 Environmental Governance

The environmental governance represents the political-economic relationships that governmental institutions shape with the relevant stakeholders, including local communities, private sector, and NGO's (Lemos & Agrawal 2006:299).

As previously stated, governance has to be decentralised. Therefore, in the case of this study, the concept of decentralised environmental governance that embraces significant environmental issues, particularly the ecosystem degradation (Ibid).

In theory, the successful decentralised governance of natural resources has a minimum of three sets of changes (Arun 2001) related to the following requirements:

(a) Decision makers at the lower level should relate to those a higher level (Andersson 2004), and they have to interact with each other.

(b) It is required to possess knowledge regarding the management of natural resources.

(c) To have an understanding of the relevant stakeholders relationships, their environment, and what are the power relations are (Lemos & Agrawal 2006:304) between them. Moreover, there are three social mechanisms that present schematic structure of environmental governance strategies presented in the figure below (Lemos & Agrawal 2006:310): (a) co-management (between state agencies and communities), (b) public-private partnerships between state agencies and market actors, (c) private social partnerships (market and community).



Figure 2: Structure of environmental governance. Source: Lemos and Agrawal 2006:310

These social mechanisms of environmental governance are gathered together to help to address major problems related either: *to climate change or ecosystem degradation*. Since this paper focuses on the ecosystem degradation, climate change is not explained further; however, considered as an equally important issue.

The relationship between ecosystems and human activity poses a complex set of multiscale issues for environmental governance. As a suggestion, to a successful environmental governance strategy, all three sectors: market,²¹state²², community²³, which have to be involved in the cooperation in achieving successful outcomes concerning ecosystem.

It also included the cases where the environmental conflict and interest arises between three social locations (Ibid:317) (Figure above). Therefore, the next part is dedicated to the framework for environmental conflicts.

²¹ Market - further referred as Private sector

²² State – further referred as Public sector

²³ Community - further refers as NGO's and Civil Society

3.3 Theoretical framework

Participation in a decision process is complex if it involves environmental issues. Moreover, the process of participation then has to include both environmental and social considerations. Therefore, this thesis uses the theoretical framework adopted by Wittmer et. al (Wittmer et al. 2006), which presents four criteria for evaluating a decision related to environmental conflict.

Information	Coping with complexity Integrating different types of information Coping with uncertainty
Legitimacy	Legal compatibility and integrating procedural knowledge Accountability Inclusion/representation Transparency of rules and assumptions to insiders and outsiders
Social dynamics	Respect/relationship Changing behaviour, changing perspectives/ learning Agency/empowerment Facilitate convergence or illustrate diversity
Costs	Cost-effectiveness Costs of the method Decision failure costs

Figure 3: Framework adapted from Wittmer. Source: Wittmer et al. 2006

This framework helps to indicate the adequacy of different instruments, which can be assessed by the four criteria (Ibid). Firstly, by determining which criteria are the most important in the conflict and lastly, by finding out the methods or approaches that applied to deal with the most important criteria. The four criteria are the following:

- Information focus on how knowledge of natural systems enters the process.
- Legitimacy focus on institutional, legal and political legitimacy
- Social Dynamics focus on trust building and social dynamics
- Costs focus on the costs of decision-making processes

3.3.1. Information

The information in an environmental conflict is crucial to the decisions made. The knowledge produced and used by the stakeholders can be complicated to be understandable from all actors and can be conditional to serve actors' interest. Therefore, the probabilities of the impacts can be characterised by uncertainty, as the knowledge used may not be accurate.

Information in environmental conflicts includes risks and uncertainties. The knowledge that exists is divided into two categories: the knowledge, which is produced by different scientific disciplines, governmental administrations, and stakeholders²⁴. It includes technical knowledge on the processes and feasibilities of outcomes

The second category is knowledge held by locals, and it is based on experiences, which people got through their interaction with nature. This type of knowledge is particularly important when the conflict is related to natural resource management, as water management or nature protection is.

In order to integrate the different types of knowledge, modelling is often used. However, it is not a sufficient way to integrate scientific and local knowledge (Wittmer et al. 2006). Moreover, the diversity in knowledge, the risk, and uncertainty, which characterise both types of knowledge, create difficulties for the integration of the knowledge in the decision-making process. Moreover, one stakeholder possesses only partial expert knowledge, which reflects on its interests. It results that the power and interests play a crucial role.

3.3.2. Legitimacy

Legitimacy reflects on the process as well as the outcome of a decision. A decision can be legitimate if the relevant stakeholders expressed their opinion, and the policy outcomes aligned with the current regulations and standard rules. Therefore, legitimacy, in this case, depends on whether the knowledge of all stakeholders have been fair and included throughout the process, moreover whether all of the stakeholders had chance to participate and share their knowledge in the process (Cash et al. 2003).

²⁴ EIA assessments in this case

Furthermore, Wittmer et al. (2006) explain that the context of the decision-making process (Wittmer et al. 2006:4-5) differs when studying the legal aspect of the participation importance holds, who has the authority to make rules. Under this scope, it is relevant, if a stakeholder's participation is voluntary or it is an established right for a stakeholder (or group) to participate in the decision-making process. Also, which is the binding level of the outcome and who is accountable for it (Ibid:5). Therefore, it is necessary to consider legal compatibility and accountability in the decisions.

Moreover, interest of legitimacy and power are essential to be taken into consideration (Wittmer et al. 2006) since "social dynamics do not disappear simply by *inviting all relevant interest groups to participate*" (Ibid:5). Wittmer et al. further argue that the nature of an environmental decision does not allow the identification of all interests, as the consequences of environmental decisions need time to be seen (Ibid). However, the decision process should take into consideration, reflections on the participation of interest also from people who cannot express their opinion, i.e., next generations. Furthermore, the transparency of decision rules and assumption is criteria, which is needed incorporating under legitimacy.

3.3.3 Social dynamics

Social dynamics explains how different stakeholders are involved in the process and the dynamics of the relationship between them: including ethical considerations, such as confrontation upon values and behaviour of people concerning the decision. Likewise, it is common in such decisions, to see the confrontation of the allocation of property rights, as there are rights, which are hard to define, such as traditional use of land (lbid:6).

Mayor concern, in this case, is the relationships between the stakeholders since it can determine the possible decision outcomes. For example, a relationship based in mistrust will probably produce limited solutions. In contrast, a decision-based on trust and mutual benefit solutions can produce an outcome a win-win manner (Ibid).

In a perfect situation, social dynamics respect human rights, and the agency promotes and empowers all actors, including the minority and (or) indigenous groups. However, a relationship based on trust and mutual interests can influence positively the decisions of the proposed solutions (Wittmer et al. 2006).

It is also possible seeing a change in the actor's behaviour through the knowledge exchange. A decision-making process can have a scope to let the stakeholders show their interest and perspective in the conflict, which can boost the understanding between the stakeholders' interest.

3.3.4 Costs

Costs criteria often considered as costs from an economic perspective. However, in the case of this framework, costs are perceived in the relationship between effects vs. costs, which do not have a monetary value.

The concerns need to be taken into consideration when analysing the costs have a different aspect. One is how well a decision procedure included and took into consideration cost-effective solutions for the conflict. Another aspect is related to the costs of the *solution's procedure*, including any additional costs for the solution. It is a matter, which should discuss, and all interest considered while selecting a solution for a conflict (lbid:7).

Last, in cost criteria, the concern of the decision failure should be studied, i.e. whether the chosen solution took into consideration the possible costs of conflict, arisen from the chosen solution. In other words, costs can be existing due to the weak decision process, insufficient solution methods application, the inadequate solution itself etc. (Ibid).

To summarise this part, the framework, applied in the findings, helped to describe the participation process based on the inclusion of all types of knowledge and interests. Whether or not the whole process and the outcomes align with the current regulatory norms that were provided equal representation and if the decisions consider the costs accordingly.

3.3.5 Stakeholders

From the theoretical perspective, stakeholders should respect and recognise each other right to participate, as well as not exercise power to eliminate opportunity representation and knowledge inputs (Jentoft 2017:271). Therefore, as Mitchell et al. (Mitchell et al. 1997) have listed two benchmarks that helps to promote fair participation such as *(a) the legitimacy of their concerns (interest)* and *(b) the power they hold or (power)*. Based on this category, those who have scored high on both of these two criteria²⁵ named

²⁵ Power and interest

as "*proponents*", those who scored high on interest but low on power named "opponents". However, there are also the ones who have low interest in this case and low power, namely *"latents*" (Jentoft:271; World Bank Group).

3.4 Criticism to the theory

It is essential to mention that there are also implications in governance. The politics and environment operate as interdependent variables, where the socioeconomic conflicts often arise (Bryant 2015:28).

One example is that decentralised administration causes local competition to attract investors with higher capital and human resources, "*while discouraging local governments from producing an optimal level of policy outputs including environmental protection*" (Kim & Yoon 2018:1062)

As a result, economic gains have priority above ecosystem considerations, as it promotes the development and welfare of the local governments, whereas the environmental concerns are perceived as less important.

Moreover, this notion suggests that economic and industrial investments in the local or regional development can create gaps, where the local officials engage in the economic competition between the regional (Kim & Yoon 2018:1062). Hence, the economic development implication of environmental preservation (Ibid).

The other implications are that the role of the state has changed. Firstly, impacted by the international authorities, e.g. trade agreements, international authorities. Secondly, on the national impacted by assigned bodies and agencies. Therefore, the central authority and its capacity are limited (Peter 1995:117).

At last, one can argue that as some policies require more participatory and coordinated structure, with different stakeholders to interact each other, it can limit the capacity of governments to coordinate them effectively. Therefore, Rhodes presents in his work also examples of the challenges in the process of governance:

(a) Fragmentation vs Control - the core executive steering, once reduced the scope of interventions, at the same time remained the greater control of what left under control of the governments (Rhodes 2000:29). As a result, it can lead to the different power allocation between the central government and the other stakeholders in the governance.

- (b) Internal Independence vs External dependence the interdependency of the international constraints impacts the decision-making process on the national level by the core executives (Ibid:30). It can affect the outcome of the decision-making process if the international commitments or economic interests overlap the interests of a national or a local scale.
- (c) Centralisation vs Autonomy "The search for internal independence saw both a centralisation of power on the core executive as it sought to assert its control over priorities and greater autonomy for other state actors in managing and implementing policy (Ibid:30)."

The main criticism to Rhodes work (Marsh et al 2003) (March and Olsen 1995) is that he did not consider the conflicts arisen from the power that central government has (Kjær 2011:107). Marsh et al. emphasised that a critical characteristic of the policy is the inequality of it the governmental (Marsh et al. 2003:312-313).

Likewise, the relationship between the center and local governments is also unequal, due to the concentration of the power in the center. Meanwhile, another critique (Kjær 2011:107) to governance is the interest and conflicts between the stakeholders and the role of socio-economic power. Therefore, powerful actors most likely can dominate if the interests collide, particularly if it is considering the resources and economic gains. The most common outcomes of conflicts are either inaction or decision voted, and this leads to the necessity of governmental intervention.

These issues to governance point out to the primary purpose of the governance, which is reshaping the state and have an understanding of this process. Moreover, according to Rhodes, governance is about changing the nature of government and how *"national traditions interpret such changes"* (Ibid:46).

In opposition to criticism, Rhodes accepted that the socio-economic aspect of governance needs to have a more in-depth explanation and integrated more clearly. However, he further explained that his focus was on "*traditions*" of governance and referred to "set of understandings someone receives during socialisation (Rhodes 2007:1250). *Traditions explain how rule, power, order and norms arise and sustain patterns of governance within civil society (Ibid:1253).*"

The main idea behind this statement is that traditions play an important role in society. In order to change the system, it requires a change of traditional rules and norms.

4 Method

The Method chapter includes explanation of sources and analysis approach that have applied in this study.

4.1 Data Collection

Since this case study adheres to qualitative method, it requires different data sources collection, for the analysis (Yin 2008:101). It is primarily based on the three types of information: *including documentation and archival records, media and academic sources* (Ibid:102).

4.1.1 Governmental sources

The following official sources used in the analytical part which are classified based on the type, timeframe, purpose, and how its treated.

Туре	Name and Year	Purpose	Treated As
1.Official report	" <i>APSD</i> " (2004) "Agenda <i>2030</i> " (2016)	Introduction to Environmental Policy, Regulations and Instruments (national and local level).	Highly reliable
	<i>"Ministry of LGM decision" (</i> 2014)	Explains, governmental system, local and regional responsibilities, and reforms.	Highly reliable
2. Final Desicions	1 st phase <i>"Saksfremlegg Kvalsund Kommune"²⁶</i> (2010-2012) <i>"Zoning Plan decision of LGM ministry" (2014)</i>	Pre-assessment stage of conflict, public opinions and evaluations of consequences on municipal level and ministerial level, decision on approval of zoning plan.	Highly reliable

²⁶ See Appendix

			Γ
	2 nd phase NE agency (2016) "Permission of tailing disposal by CE Ministry (2016)	Decision on permission of tailing disposal on agency and ministerial levels.	Highly reliable Highly reliable
	3 rd phase Directorate of Minerals, "TIF Ministry decision" (2019)	Final decision for operation permit, Directorate and Ministry level.	Highly reliable Highly reliable
3.Objections	Mail correspondence ²⁷ (10 Stakeholders,2015) Norske Laksselver (2015) Natur og Ungdom Naturvernforbundet (2015)	Official documents that have been sent by a stakeholder's trough out the process.	Very reliable, however, some source available only upon request ²⁸
4. Official Statements	Available from the official website of government (2012-2019)	The statements of governmental representatives and their opinions.	Very reliable, however, treated as self- representation.

Table 1: The table explains the different approaches to how official sources are treated.

Moreover, these sources used in the different parts of the analysis:

- The First part (Policy and regulation) used official reports.
- The Second Part (Conflict) used official documentation.
- The Third part (Findings) Statements.

²⁷ See Appendix

²⁸ Through an online application documents can be accessed and received by email. The official site is the https://innsyn.no. See Appendix

4.1.2 Academic articles

The academic sources are used as supplementary to the findings. The sources extracted from "International Journal of Public Administration", "Land Use Policy", "Geoforum Journal", "Journal of Environmental Policy and Planning", "Environmental Law", "Acta Borealia" include analysis of policies from different aspect such as rights to land use and natural resources management. All the journals provide information of international governance on natural resources from economic, political, social, and environmental approaches.

The academic paper "*The Nussir case and the battle for legitimacy: Scientific assessments, defining power and political contestation*"²⁹ from Dannevig and Dale (Dannevig & Dale 2018) and the thesis "*Mining or Traditional Use? Conflicts in the Northern Norwegian Copper frontier*" (Rør 2018) by Anders Vieth Rør are used in the analytical part of this thesis.

These two papers supplement the findings from the interviews with the local's from Kvalsund on the outcomes on the "Repparfjord case", conducted in 2017. Moreover, the findings on participation in the decision process and the legal compatibility of the process used where it was relevant to supplement the findings of this thesis analysis.

4.1.3 Media publications

Articles and media publications are extracted mainly from web sources. Different online media covered the conflict in the Repparfjord. The media publication presents opinions from stakeholders involved in the decision-making process and treated as selfrepresentation of the process. It gives different perspective to the official sources, by making it less formal.

The statements included in the analysis represent points of views, opinions, and claims of various stakeholders, according to their participation in the decision process and outcomes. Moreover, other media sources describe the context used and its meaning.

²⁹Introduces a research on legal compatibility of the mining permission process.

4.2 Data Analysis

The first part of the analysis requires a descriptive data analysis approach, as to provide a general description of the administrative structure and the regulations. The second part of the analysis requires a more systematic approach to data analysis.

Firstly, by distinguishing the stakeholders who are relevant to the chosen environmental conflict and categorised by the sector, they represent the *public, private, NGO's, and civil society*. Secondly, by categorising them based on the power (in the decision-making they possess) and interest (protect their interest in the process)³⁰.

Lastly, by arranging all relevant stakeholders based on the phases of the "Repparfjord case" from 2010-2019 according to their position in the process: proponent, opponent, and latents.

Therefore, the second part of analysis is divided into three stages of the conflict, which includes stakeholders.

Phase 1 (2010-2014)	Early stage of conflict (Zone Planning Approval).	Municipal/ LGM Ministry Level.
Phase 2 (2015-2016)	Middle stage of conflict (Tailing Waste Disposal Permit).	NE agency/ CE Ministry.
Phase 3(2016-2019)	Last stage of conflict (Operation Permit).	The Directorate of Minerals/TIF Ministry final decision.

Table 2: Presents the phases of the conflict

To finalise all part of the analysis, the theoretical framework as applied to the findings, as well as, the official and media statement supplemented with the academic sources.

³⁰Additional inspiration for stakeholder analysis gathered from World Bank. http://www1.worldbank.org/publicsector/anticorrupt/PoliticalEconomy/stakeholderanalysis.htm?fbclid=IwAR3i5pWn 09TLn12rYeXlaKkzL6QU4ttHE1Th6SGeQWsONU7k9INmCRUN0qI (Accessed on May 10 2019)

4.3 Limitation

The relevant governmental documents were retrieved easily and accessed without implications. However, it is worth considering that some information might have been deliberately withheld. Information that is available to the public, cannot be perceived hundred percent reliable. In this thesis to avoid biased selectivity (Yin 2008:102), the conflict phases are used as a tool for collection of data. Additionally, by using different type of evidential sources. Meanwhile, there is a certain limitation to this data.

Some of the official documents are only available in the Norwegian language. In the case of this paper, this factor has not created the obstacles in the research since one of the authors is able to understand the language.

However, in some instances, translation tools have been applied and, therefore, it is essential to consider that some understanding may have been lost in translations. This factor can possess challenges for future research without the Norwegian language understanding.

Another limitation is that the authors have not been part of the public meetings of the conflict, and to identify who was indeed participated or invited to the meetings is challenging. Perhaps, the qualitative study that involves interviews of participants and stakeholders can in many cases supply with a deeper understanding of the whole process.

5 Analysis

The following part describes the environmental policy, which the Norwegian government adapted in 2004, and the relevant instruments that have been applied to the national, regional and the municipal level. The main purpose of this chapter is to introduce the change that the Norwegian government went through in order to implement the sustainability act of the environmental policy, its instruments, and to present relevant regulatory acts. Moreover, it describes how Norwegian government implemented the reform in the public sector for environmental governance.

5.1 Norwegian environmental policy

Norway is a monarchy with a political system that is based on the representative democracy ("Local Government in Norway" 2014). The power is divided in three branches:

A legislative branch, also responsible for appropriations, the Storting (Parliament) an executive branch of the Government, and a judicial branch, the courts³¹.

It consists of fifteen ministries that coordinate the work of the Norwegian government.³² With the current Prime Minister³³ – *Erna Solberg*, the governing cabinet is under the Norwegian center-right (Conservative Party). The main agenda of the party is economic liberalism, reduction of taxes and individual right (Wayne 2012:54). Moreover, in January 2019, the PM was able to include the fourth party Christian Democratic Party (CDP) under existing coalition of Progress Party (PP) and Liberal Party (LP).

Norway is ranked as top country in the world in the human development index by the UNDP and fifth in the environmental development in the Arctic.³⁴ It is also ranked high in the implementation of the SDG's and has been expected to put further efforts in achieving development in socio-economic and environmental development (Agenda 2030 2016:1).

Furthermore, the Norwegian Government respects participatory, inclusive and representative decision-making process as fundamental for a well-functioning society. Therefore, the Government involves the indigenous peoples' assembly, the *Sámediggi*³⁵ in the dialogue with the ministries and formal consultation mechanisms and cooperates with local and regional authorities.

These governmental consultations involve different stakeholders such as: *the civil society, the business sector and academia representatives.* It is one of the most important agendas for the Norwegian government, as it brings to the dialogue different sectors meanwhile strengthening the democratic principles and the decentralisation process.

Furthermore, the top priorities for the government are *sustainable natural resource management*, *climate change mitigation* and *adaptation* (Ibid:4). Moreover, they address the responsible use and protection of oceans and marine environments.

³¹ Accessed on April 29 2019 https://www.regjeringen.no/en/the-government/id443314/

³² See Appendix

³³ Further referred PM

³⁴ According to UNDP statistics of 2018, http://hdr.undp.org/en/countries/profiles/NOR Accessed on May 26 2019

³⁵ Sámediggi – the Sami Parliament. See more p.37

The recent emphasis on the environment policy is related to the health of the ocean. It is important for Norway and other Arctic and coastal countries as the healthy oceans contribute to the "Blue Economy³⁶", while protecting the ecosystems (Ibid).

As a response, Norway has established integrated ecosystem-based management plans for its sea areas (Ibid:4). In May 2016, the Storting³⁷ adopted a *Norwegian Action Plan for Biodiversity* ³⁸ alongside the other actions plans and act, which is described in the following section.

5.1.1 The Action Plan for Sustainable Development

In 2004,³⁹ the Norwegian Government adapted the Action Plan for SD⁴⁰ as a national strategy for SD. It was the first step to make efforts on national level, to ensure environmental long-term political agenda. Moreover, it is a tool for the authorities, the business sector, the voluntary sector and individual people for environmental action (APSD 2004:3).

Under APSD, following environmental principles and a set of policy instruments have been introduced:

5.1.1.1 Stewardship responsibility principle

*Stewardship responsibility principle*⁴¹ is central to the Government's fundamental values. Based on the Sem Declaration statement:

"The Earth provides the basis for all human life, and we have a responsibility to manage it in such way that future generations have the same opportunities to experience the natural world and make use of natural resources as the present generation. We will use the environment and natural resources in such a way that

³⁶ Blue Economy –" Blue "economy in the Arctic related to the economy that is dependable on the large bodies of water: oceans, seas and large inland lakes. Almost every country with a coastline has some part of "Blue economy "adapted also in the policy (Atikson et al.2018)

³⁷ Norwegian Parliament

³⁸ See page 37

³⁹ Under former Prime minister of Norway Kjell Magne Bondevik (Christian Democratic Party)

⁴⁰ Known also as Agenda 21

they benefit the community as a whole and within the limits of their capacity for renewal (Ibid:20)"

Therefore, it is required to ensure economic development within framework of a longterm management of the environment and natural resources. Under this requirement, the government made a commitment to reduce the economic pressures that are associated with economic growth (Ibid:20).

5.1.1.2 Precautionary principle

The precautionary principle adheres to a following statement:

"Where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost effective measures to prevent environmental degradation" (Ibid:20).

Whereas, it is emphasized to have a precautionary principle for all sectors and activities that puts pressure on environment and natural resources.

Additionally, it is stated in the document that it is challenging for developed and industrialized countries particularly, to achieve a sustainable development on a national level.

5.1.1.3 Ecosystem approach

The ecosystem approach considers ecosystems such as forests, oceans, coastal waters and fresh water. The framework known *as ecosystem* approach elaborated internationally and is based on following principles:

- (a) Management should be based on all type of information that includes scientific, traditional and local knowledge, contributing to maintenance of the ecosystems.
- (b) Management should be evaluated continuously from intensive use to strict protection
- (c) Management should be in in consideration with temporal ecological variations and impacts on the neighboring eco-systems. Moreover, state management should be decentralised to the lowest level possible.

5.1.1.4 Polluter-pays principle

The polluter-pays principle is complex in its nature since it involves the economic interlinkage with the environment (APSD 2004:21). The additional costs added to polluting activities to promote a development of new solutions that have less impact on the environment. This is principle based on the idea that the welfare of the society is central in SD. Polluter-pays principle aims to promote technological development solutions, to reduce emission and at the same the costs of production, broadly knows as "Green taxes".

This polluter-pays principle leads to reduction on the environmental pressure, while society shifts to other more efficient resources.

5.2 Instruments

The Norwegian government has established policy instruments for tackling the environmental issues on the national level: *economic, administrative and guidance and information* (APSD 2004:22-24).

5.2.1 Economic instrument

The economic instruments are related to the influence on the behavior of consumers and businesses. By putting extra expenses, it is expected that actions will follow to reduce pollution where the environmental improvements is achieved at the minimum costs of operation (APSD 2004:22). The environmental taxes, tradable emission quota and deposit and return schemes and subsidiaries are the example for the economic instruments.

5.2.2 Information instrument

This instrument obliges the authorities to provide a framework that promotes producer and consumers to act in an environmentally friendly way. Therefore, establishment of the Environmental Information Act requires commercial actors to be transparent, as well as providing information regarding the provided goods or services. It also involves spreading the information that can contribute to the businesses and consumers to make "environmentally sound choices" (Ibid:25).

5.2.3 Administrative instruments

This instrument influences the decisions directly by creating requirements to promote certain behaviors and prohibit other. The power of implementation of administrative instruments is given to the local government administration.

These instruments involve direct regulations and arrangements between the authorities and sectors of industries or private business establishments. Under Norwegian legislation, the following acts are adapted:

The Pollution Control Act⁴² and the Planning and Building Act⁴³ – for governance for the use of natural resources and the environment (Ibid:24).

The PB Act provides guidelines for a long-term development, which can contribute to the reduction of the needs of transport, pollution and help to safeguard biological diversity. Alongside with the Cultural Heritage Act⁴⁴ is also important for the use and protection of the cultural heritage (Ibid).

Moreover, on important addition to the administrative instruments is the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA)⁴⁵. The assessment is prerequisite as a practical tool under precautionary principles. The purpose of the assessment is to ensure "*that the general public can take part and influence the decision-making processes in accordance with the Environmental Information Act*", adopted by Storting in 2003 (Ibid:24).

All the above-mentioned instruments allocate the environmental responsibilities from the state to other sectors and therefore contributes to a decentralization process.

5.3 Policy for Sustainable development

Under the policy for SD the Norwegian government adapted sets of objectives⁴⁶ for the international and national level. Whereas the relevant objectives under this policy for ecosystem preservations are the following:

⁴² Further referred as PA Act, see page 38

⁴³ Further referred as PB Act, see page 39

⁴⁴ Further referred as CH Act, see page 38

⁴⁵ See page 40

⁴⁶ International cooperation to promote SD and combat poverty, climate change, the ozone layer and long-range air pollution.

5.3.1 Biological diversity and the Cultural heritage

For the biological diversity⁴⁷ and the cultural heritage (lbid:32):

- (d) The government committed to establish a knowledge-based management system⁴⁸.
- (e) Implement the protection plan for the forest to increase the territories of the mainland protected areas under *the Nature Conservation Act.*
- (f) Establish the marine protected areas (MPA's) to protect and guard the vulnerable species in Norway's marine and coastal areas.
- (g) Establish a system of *national salmon rivers and fjords* where special measures will be taken to protect wild salmon stocks.

5.3.2 Natural resources

For the natural resources (Ibid:34):

- (a) Establish framework condition for possible conflict resolution between the interests of the fisheries, aquaculture and petroleum sectors under the framework of sustainable development. The role of the impact assessment (IA) is critical to monitors consequences to the environment fisheries and society⁴⁹.
- (b) To prioritize the environmental research where challenges in areas of petroleum, fisheries and environment collide.
- (c) Reduce overcapacity of the fishing fleet and introduce a structural scheme of quotas.

5.3.2.1 Sami perspectives on environmental and natural resource management

The Norwegian government's objective is to make sure that Sami⁵⁰ interest and considerations are included into, both the SD policy and in collaboration between the central environmental and regional authorities alongside other stakeholder involved in

⁴⁷ See the whole list in SD Action plan:32--33

⁴⁸ Described in the white paper on Biological Diversity

⁴⁹ As the example IA from the Lofoten Islands and northwards the Barents Sea.

⁵⁰ The right to their land and resources for livelihoods, the right to practice their language, the right to be free from discrimination, the right to self-determination and the right to be consulted in decision-making.
environmental efforts. Moreover, Sami culture is protected by the UN international law ILO No.169⁵¹ which main agenda is to include indigenous peoples into the decision-making process (Ibid:34). Including the following steps (Ibid:38):

- (d) Sami custom, tradition and interest are considered in the legislative work. In the case of environmental disputes, the government will take into consideration Sami views.
- (e) Establish closer collaboration between Sami and other sectors for the SD.

To summarize the APSD since 2004, the Norwegian government went through a transition towards more decentralized state that allocates the environmental responsibilities to different stakeholders, by adapting various instruments and legislations under the environmental policy. Moreover, the inclusion of the Sami Parliament in the environmental decision-making, presents inclusive and participatory collaboration in the decentralization process.

5.3.3 Action Plan for Biodiversity

The Action Plan for Biodiversity (2015-2016) is the Government's policy for biodiversity management in Norway is based on these principles: (a) *More clearly targeted nature management*, (b) *Climate-resilient nature management*, (c) *Strengthening municipal expertise on biodiversity*, (d) *Safeguarding threatened species and habitats*, (e) *Long-term conservation of a representative selection of Norwegian nature*, (f) *Knowledge-based management*, (g) *Adaptation of tools and instruments to the different ecosystems* (Biodiversity Action Plan 2014:6).

Moreover, the importance of traditional knowledge (TK), is emphasised in the policy, and also referring to §8 of Natural Diversity Act⁵², which requires from authorities to include and attach importance to any TK⁵³ when making official decisions, particularly for the public authorities (Ibid:71). Particularly in Sami areas, where TK being nature is still used in the traditional way, and they possess a large body of unique knowledge only to Sami.

⁵¹ International Labour Organisation Convention.

⁵² See page 39

⁵³ Regulations on TK under Nature Diversity Act, that implement Norway obligations under the Nagoya Protocol on Access and Benefit-sharing.

5.4 Overview of Norwegian Acts

In this part, relevant Acts that are most commonly used in legal environmental cases will be introduced to give a better understanding of the Norwegian environmental regulations.

5.4.1 Cultural Heritage Act

The following Act (9th June 1978) protects architectural, archeological monuments and sites, and cultural environments, as part of cultural heritage, cultural identity, and as overall environment and resource management.⁵⁴

5.4.2. Pollution Control Act

The Act's (3th March 1981) the main agenda is to prohibit to pollute and litter. With this act, the outdoor environment is protected from external pollution from solid substance, liquids or gas to air, water or ground, as well as noise and vibrations.

5.4.3 Marine Resource Act

*The Norwegian Marine resource Act*⁵⁵ (6th June 2008) the following act ensures sustainable and economically profitable management of wild living marine resources, as well as promotes employment and settlement in a coastal community. Under §7 main principles are mentioned: a precautionary approach, in accordance with international agreements and guidelines ecosystem approach that takes into account habitats and biodiversity. Moreover, to safeguard the material basis for the Sami Culture.

5.4.1.2 Salmon Fjords

Under the policy for SD 29 Norwegian salmon fjords have been establish nationwide⁵⁶. The main reason for this is to provide the most important salmon stock with protection against various intervention that can harmfully affect the breeding activities and overall conditions of the salmon with pollution in the nearby fjords and its coastal areas (APSD 2004:14).

⁵⁴ https://www.regjeringen.no/en/dokumenter/cultural-heritage-act/id173106/ Accessed May 26 2019

⁵⁵ https://www.fiskeridir.no/English/Fisheries/Regulations/The-marine-resources-act, Accessed May 26 2019

⁵⁶ Under the biological diversity and cultural heritage. See page 35

5.4.4 Planning and Building Act

The Norwegian Planning and Building Act (of 27th 2008) (Ministry of LGM 2008) this regulation is related to EIA that obliges to do the EIA for the extractions of ore, minerals and similar. Under the §4 of the Act it is stated that:

"Permits pursuant to the PC Act may not be granted in violation of adopted land use/ zoning plans in the municipality in question, and without from the municipality (NIVA Report 2019:14).

This act refers to the land *use* and *zoning plan* that the municipalities have the authority to grant the permission.

5.4.5 Nature Diversity Act

The Norwegian Nature Diversity Act – (of 1st July 2009) (Ministry of CE 2009) this regulation's purpose is to protect the "*biological, geological and landscape diversity and ecological processes through conservation and sustainable use*." This §8 (knowledge based⁵⁷) states:

"Official decisions that affect biological, geological and landscape diversity shall, as far as is reasonable, be based on scientific knowledge of the population status of species, the range and ecological status of habitat types, and the impacts of environmental pressures. The knowledge required shall be in reasonable proportion to the nature of the case and the risk of damage to biological, geological and landscape diversity.

Furthermore, the authorities shall attach importance to knowledge that is based on many generations of experience acquired through the use of and interaction with the natural environment, including traditional Sami use, and that can promote the conservation and sustainable use of biological, geological and landscape diversity."

The §8 obliges the inclusion of two different knowledge. The scientific knowledge that evaluates impacts on the environmental pressures and ecosystem and the traditional knowledge based on experience or traditional use. The §9 is related to the *precautionary principle* and §10 to *the eco-system approach*. Which states that any pressure on the ecosystem shall be evaluated and assessed based on the environmental effect on the current

⁵⁷ Knowledge based principle, under ecosystem approach. See page 33

and on the future ecosystems (NIVA Report 2019). Furthermore, §14 states that all measures under this Act shall "be weighed against all other important public interests. When decisions are made under the Act that directly affect Sami interests, due importance shall be attached, within the framework that applies for the individual provision, to the natural resource base for Sami culture". In current legislation, authorities are obliged to make sure that management decisions are made according to the principle of safeguarding the material basis for Sami culture (Nature Diversity Act 2009, §14).

5.4.6 The Finnmark Act

This Act that has been created (17 June 2005) by Sami Parliament and Finnmark Council. It facilitates the management of the land and natural resources in accordance to ecosystem considerations in sustainable manner for the benefits of County's inhabitants. Particularly as basis for Sami culture, reindeer husbandry, the user of outdoor land, business activities and community live. This Act is connected to ILO Convection 169⁵⁸ (Lovdata.No 2005).

5.4.7 Environmental Impact Assessment

The EIA's purpose is to ensure that the environment and community are taken into consideration during the planning. It helps to decision-making process, by including the public be involved in the evaluation process (TIF Ministry 2014:1).

Since Norway belongs to EEA, consequently, it is obligated to align its land use legislation with the EU law. Therefore, according to 2011/92/EU the procedure to make changes in land use and industrial development needs to be followed by EIA.

5.5 Local Government

Norwegian local democracy is strong, and the local governmental institutions are well established. It has a two tier-system of local government: the (428) municipalities and the (19) county authorities⁵⁹ ("Local Government in Norway Information" 2014, p.8). The

⁵⁸ "Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention" 1989. The convention concerns on Indigenous and Tribal Peoples in Independent Countries, regarding human, economic, social, cultural and political rights of Indigenous people. ⁵⁹ As for 2012.

municipalities are political bodies, that elected by democratic council. Since the councils are accountable to the local public, they are expected to promote local interests, values and also fulfil local demands (Falleth & Hovik 2009, p.1). All municipalities and county authorities are required to fulfil the same functions and same responsibilities regardless of size. The Norwegian government distributes responsibilities between the different levels, based on the generalist local authority system.

As a result, since 2006, the government adapted reform that based on the principles of delegation and decentralization of responsibility and authority. This step has promoted even further the local democracy, which contributes to more efficient and "user friendly" public administration (Ibid, p.11).

The responsibilities between governmental institutions are divided as following (Local Government in Norway Information 2014:11)

- Central Government responsibilities⁶⁰
- The County responsibilities⁶¹
- The Municipality responsibilities⁶²

Since the municipality and country given various responsibilities, the authorities must not exercise power but closely collaborate with the private and voluntary sector (APSD 2004, p.41). Moreover, the local authorities maintain contact with the central authorities concerning various issues on administrative and political level ("Local Government in Norway Information" 2014:30).

The parliamentary elections in 2013 proposed a new reform that includes an establishment of larger municipalities, with increased number of tasks and responsibilities

⁶⁰ The National Insurance Scheme, Specialised health services (hospitals), Higher education/universities, labour market, refugees and immigrants, National road network, railways, agricultural issues, environmental issues, Police, courts, prisons, armed forces, foreign policy, Specialised social services.

⁶¹ Upper secondary school, Regional development, County roads and public transport, Regional planning Business development, Culture (museums, libraries, sports), Cultural heritage, Environmental issues.

⁶² Primary and lower secondary school, Nurseries/kindergartens, Primary healthcare, Care for the elderly and disabled, social services, Local planning, agricultural issues, environmental issues, local roads, harbors, Water supply, sanitation and sewer, Culture and business development.

(Ibid, p.12). As the result, the number of the municipalities will be cut in the future from 428 to 354, and 19 counties will be merged in 11 regions⁶³.

Currently, the most controversial case in the public sector is the merge of the two Northern counties of Troms and Finnmark, whereas the regional administration of county Finnmark opposes to this decision (Staalesen 2018).

Even though the Storting has twice approved the decision, the Finnmark county leader R. Vassvik refused to meet with the Minister of LGM, Monica Mæland, for further discussions. She has expressed her opinion, mentioning that insufficient knowledge and understanding of Finnmark region and its culture is present among the people from the Southern part of Norway (Staalesen 2018). Moreover, the public opinion of Finnmark County strongly, opposed to this decision on referendum of May 2018 (Ibid).

Therefore, tensions between the local and the central governments are currently present, particularly between the southern (center) and the northern governments (Staalesen 2018).

5.6 Sub-conclusion

The Norwegian government, after adapting the APSD in 2004, went through institutional change, alongside implementation of environmental principles under the sustainable policy. The precautionary principle became a requirement to use in all sectors and activities, which puts pressure on the environment.

Meanwhile, the government also acknowledged that for the developed and industrialised countries it is a challenge to reverse environmental damage that have been caused by industrialisation. Therefore, achieving sustainability at national level is particularly challenging change (APSD 2004:20).

The ecosystem approach required from the management of ecosystem to include different type of knowledge, to establish protected areas and monitor the impacted area.

Whereas, the managements required to become decentralised by promoting participatory governance of natural resource.

Decentralisation of central government in Norway led to local and regional governments be responsible for addressing the environmental issues.

⁶³ 422 Municipalities as 2019 and 18 Counties.

Therefore, the EIA became a practical tool for application of environmental principles and serving as regulatory since then. The necessity of IA promoted to obtain that environmental knowledge that is needed and is missing to close the knowledge gaps. As well as to ensure the public participation in the decision-making process (APSD:24).

The role of a local administration became more significant after they have received the executive authority for the land use and zoning plan.

The public sector reform since 2006, resulted in major structural changes, where the local authorities have been given more responsibilities by the state, as part of decentralization strategy.

At the same time, the central government has also gone through administrative changes. In 2013, under the former parliamentary election, which has been won by Liber party (LP), the further reforms of the local administration have been proposed in order to reduce the number of Municipalities and merge them. The same applied with the number of Counties. At that time, the LGM Ministry was under the CP. Since then, the CP was getting political recognition and strengthening their influence, which lead to the winning on parliamentary elections in 2017. Under the CP administration, the reform of the local and regional structured has been approved. However, it creates tension in the public sector between the central and local authorities.

This part has shown the complexity of public administration structure and relations, between public authorities and institution. Since the Municipalities have been granted responsibility to address environmental issues, the recent conflict in *"Repparfjord case"* is described to further explain the complexities when different stakeholders are involved in the environmental decision-making process. Therefore, the next chapter provides information regarding the background of the conflict and introduces to the main stakeholders involved in this issue.

5.7 Background of the Repparfjord conflict

Among various fjords that are located on the west coast of Northern Norway, one particular fjord was brought to the attention of not only the whole Norwegian Nation, but also the international community. The *Repparfjorden* in Kvalsund Municipality, which is located on the Barents Sea.



Figure 4: The location of the proposed Nussir mining project. Adapted from Wikimedia Commons and Norwegian Mapping Authority. Source: Rør 2018:43.

It is home for only about 1100 inhabitants including Sami⁶⁴, indigenous community, however, often visited by the neighboring residents from Hammerfest⁶⁵ town. Historically, the area belongs to a fishing community, but for the last 20 years, the decline of coastal fisheries in Norway lead to the disappearance of livelihood in the area (Dannevig & Dale 2018:16).

⁶⁴ Indigenous people, who live in Finland, Russia, Sweden but the majority lives in the county of Finnmark in Norway. The Sami in Norway have their own parliament. Likewise, Norway was the first country who ratified Sami's right to use the land through the ILO Convention in 1990. Source: https://www.unric.org/en/indigenous-people/27307-the-samiof-northern-europe--one-people-four-countries Accessed May 05 2019.

⁶⁵ Hammerfest - population of 10417 (January 2016).

Repparfjorden is a place of a cultural meaning, where the local Sami settlements and reindeer herder have coexisted with the local Norwegian communities for centuries. They also share the common understanding and knowledge of the landscapes, nature and the ecosystems (Ibid:17).

The Kvalsund Municipality describes the fjord as a place that has *"many good fishing waters and rivers...one of Norway's best salmon rivers...Repparfjord River."*⁶⁶This description by municipality presents a sense of pride that the natural resources offer.

The Norwegian government has classified the Repparfjord as a "*National Salmon Fjord*" as it is important to the Atlantic salmon spawning grounds, cod and the other marine species (Friends of the Earth International 2015). Therefore, it is particularly important to keep the ecosystem of the fjord healthy, as well as, its communities and their culture.

Norway is globally known for being a seafood nation, with beautiful fjord system contributing to the world's food supply approximately 38 million meals of seafood every day (Friends of the Earth International.Org.2015). Since the fjords and its marine species are important to Norway as a nation, the Norwegian government has a special responsibility to protect the health of the fjords. This is the reason why the Norwegian government established national fjords that have a special status for the environmental protection.

5.7.1 Nussir ASA

Nussir ASA⁶⁷ is a Norwegian mining company. In 2005, it proceeded with the legal procedure to obtain permission to mining activities in the area of Kvalsund Municipality. The project is hundred percent owned by the company, with the total investment of 150mil USD, that are sponsored by Switzerland investors (Rør 2019).

In order to understand the steps that Nussir ASA went through to get the permission for operation, the table below presents a chronological overview.

⁶⁶ Kvalsund Municipality official homepage http://www.kvalsund.kommune.no/english.109751.au.html Accessed on April 30 2019

⁶⁷ http://www.nussir.no/en_about_nussir.php CEO Mr. Øystein Rushfeldt Accessed on May 02 2019

Copper mine was operated by the Norwegian Company "Folldal bruk". The tailings ⁶⁸ were disposed to the Repparfjord. Closed in1978 due to the global copper price fluctuation.2007Nussir ASA started test drilling in Ulveryggen and Nussir. Large deposit of copper, gold and silver ore were discovered.2007Nussir ASA's CEO Mr Øystein Rushfeldt started talks with the Kvalsund Municipality. The company initiated meetings with leaders from the municipality and people at the public meeting.2010Nussir ASA got approved an Assessment Program (AP) by the Kvalsund Municipality, afterwards the municipality initiates an EIA. Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012Nussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing March 17th waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of the Environment		
1970'scopper price fluctuation.2007Nussir ASA started test drilling in Ulveryggen and Nussir. Large deposit of copper, gold and silver ore were discovered.2007Nussir ASA's CEO Mr Øystein Rushfeldt started talks with the Kvalsund Municipality. The company initiated meetings with leaders from the municipality and people at the public meeting.2010Nussir ASA got approved an Assessment Program (AP) by the Kvalsund Municipality, afterwards the municipality initiates an EIA. Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012 Jan.Nussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of	1970's	Copper mine was operated by the Norwegian Company "Folldal bruk". The
copper price fluctuation.2007Nussir ASA started test drilling in Ulveryggen and Nussir. Large deposit of copper, gold and silver ore were discovered.2007Nussir ASA's CEO Mr Øystein Rushfeldt started talks with the Kvalsund Municipality. The company initiated meetings with leaders from the municipality and people at the public meeting.2010Nussir ASA got approved an Assessment Program (AP) by the Kvalsund Municipality, afterwards the municipality initiates an EIA. Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament oct. 25th2012 Jan.Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the ford.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		tailings ⁶⁸ were disposed to the Repparfjord. Closed in1978 due to the global
2007copper, gold and silver ore were discovered.Late 2009Nussir ASA's CEO Mr Øystein Rushfeldt started talks with the Kvalsund Municipality. The company initiated meetings with leaders from the municipality and people at the public meeting.2010Nussir ASA got approved an Assessment Program (AP) by the Kvalsund Municipality, afterwards the municipality initiates an EIA. Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament of the Z012 Jan.2013Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014Nussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		copper price fluctuation.
2007copper, gold and silver ore were discovered.Late 2009Nussir ASA's CEO Mr Øystein Rushfeldt started talks with the Kvalsund Municipality. The company initiated meetings with leaders from the municipality and people at the public meeting.2010Nussir ASA got approved an Assessment Program (AP) by the Kvalsund Municipality, afterwards the municipality initiates an EIA. Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament of the Z012 Jan.2013Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014Nussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
Late 2009Nussir ASA's CEO Mr Øystein Rushfeldt started talks with the Kvalsund Municipality. The company initiated meetings with leaders from the municipality and people at the public meeting.2010Nussir ASA got approved an Assessment Program (AP) by the Kvalsund Municipality, afterwards the municipality initiates an EIA. Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament oct. 25th2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012Nussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		Nussir ASA started test drilling in Ulveryggen and Nussir. Large deposit of
Late 2009Municipality. The company initiated meetings with leaders from the municipality and people at the public meeting.2010Nussir ASA got approved an Assessment Program (AP) by the Kvalsund Municipality, afterwards the municipality initiates an EIA. Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012 Jan.Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.2015 March 17th10 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing March 17th2015 Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of Sender Sender S	2007	copper, gold and silver ore were discovered.
Late 2009Municipality. The company initiated meetings with leaders from the municipality and people at the public meeting.2010Nussir ASA got approved an Assessment Program (AP) by the Kvalsund Municipality, afterwards the municipality initiates an EIA. Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012 Jan.Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.2015 March 17th10 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing March 17th2015 Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of Sender Sender S		
Late 2009and people at the public meeting.2010Nussir ASA got approved an Assessment Program (AP) by the Kvalsund Municipality, afterwards the municipality initiates an EIA. Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012 Jan.Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.2015 March 17th10 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of	Late 2009	Nussir ASA's CEO Mr Øystein Rushfeldt started talks with the Kvalsund
and people at the public meeting.and people at the municipality approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.and Diradesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.and Conradesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.and Conradesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.and Conradesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposite tailing of Local Government and Modernisation.counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.and the Area Council was denied.and the Area Council was denied.and the Area dumping to Reppafjordand tailings disposal permit wh		Municipality. The company initiated meetings with leaders from the municipality
2010Municipality, afterwards the municipality initiates an EIA. Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament ond Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012 Jan.Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014 March 20th March 17thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		and people at the public meeting.
2010Municipality, afterwards the municipality initiates an EIA. Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament ond Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012 Jan.Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014 March 20th March 17thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
2010Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014Nussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of	2010	
Nussir ASA secured approval for the zoning plan, from the municipality. At this point, Sami Parliament could start to object.2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012 Jan.Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
2011In 2011 consultations, tastings and planning started to evaluate the impacts of the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing March 17th2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
2011the mining project in the area.2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2012Jan.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
2012Kvalsund Municipality approved zoning plan to Nussir ASA. Sami Parliament and Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of	2011	
Oct. 25thand Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012 Jan.Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.2015 March 17th10 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		the mining project in the area.
Oct. 25thand Områdesstyrret for Reindrift i Vest-Finnmark opposed this desicion.2012 Jan.Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.2015 March 17th10 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
2012 Jan.Nussir ASA applied to NEA to get a permission to deposit mining waste in the fjord.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.2015 March 17th10 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing waste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
2012 Jan.fjord.2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing March 17th2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of	Oct. 25th	
2014 March 20thNussir ASA got the governmental approval for the zoning plan by the Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing Warch 17th2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
2014 March 20thof Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing March 17th2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of	2012 Jan.	fjord.
2014 March 20thof Local Government and Modernisation. Counter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailing March 17th2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
March 20thCounter notification from Sami Parliament and the Area Council was denied.201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailingMarch 17thwaste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of	2014	
201510 stakeholders representing fishery industry send petition opposing the tailingMarch 17thwaste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
March 17thwaste dumping to Reppafjord2015Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
2015 Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of		
		waste dumping to Reppafjord
Dec. 8th the Environment	2015	Final tailings disposal permit which was granted by the Norwegian Ministry of
	Dec. 8th	the Environment

⁶⁸ *Tailings* - are the sludge left once the mineral is extracted from the ore. They contain crushed rock, processing chemicals and naturally occurring elements that become toxic when exposed to air or water. This toxic cocktail settles on and smothers the seafloor, killing everything that lives there. Tailings can also spread, contaminating other areas and destroying coral reefs and the other habitat. Source - https://earthworks.org/stories/kvalsund/ - Accessed May 06 2019

	Nussir ASA applied to the Directorate for Mineral Management for an
2016 May	Operating License for exploitation of the Repparfjord copper deposit.
	During this hearing the Sami Parliament has objected according to Mineral Act
2016	Granted an emission permission by the Ministry of Climate and Environment,
Dec. 19th	including the permission to depose tailings in a Repparfjord sea deposit
2017	The Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries received application,
Sep. 27th	
	The TIF Ministry asked the Directorate to provide the Ministry with professional
2017	mining advice to the objective application from Sami Parliament. The
Oct. 25th	Directorate responded with the advice on 27 February 2018. Nussir ASA
	replied on the Directorate's advice in letter of 5 April 2018.
2018 May 18th	Open input meeting and an inspection in Kvalsund and the Repparfjord areas, with participants from the reindeer herding industry and relevant authorities (Eilertsen 2019). Same day there the consultations between the affected reindeer herding districts and the Ministry in keeping up with the 2005 Consultation Agreement. Representatives from the Sami Parliament attended as observers.
2018	Nussir scheduled to begin operating, close to receive all necessary permits ⁶⁹ .
	Table 2: Mining Development in Repparfjord.

The final decision from the TIF Ministry gave permission to operate with the mining activities in Ulveryggen and Nussir that will dispose the mining waste / tailings to the fjord's waters over 2 million tons per year for approximate period of 25-30 years. Tailings that consist of heavy metals of which 240 tons of Nickel (Ni), 588 tons of Chromium (Cr) and 1400 tons of Copper (Cu) will be disposed to the fjord every single year.

⁶⁹ Accessed on May 06 2019 https://earthworks.org/stories/kvalsund/



Figure 5: Overview of Repparfjorden. Source: Rør 2018:44.

This decision-making process and its outcome had provoked many stakeholders to be involved in both the process and its outcome, since Norway is one of the handful countries⁷⁰, which permits dumping waste in the seabed.

5.8 Stakeholders

Kvalsund Municipality

It is the actor, who holds the authority to grant permission for environmental project, according to the current Norwegian legislation. Therefore, they are responsible for the zoning plan and land use. They gave the permission to Nussir ASA in 2010, after implementing the EIA.

They strongly support the mining project and their core argument during the conflict, was the economic and social development, which the project will bring to the area, which is much needed.

⁷⁰ Other countries are Chile, Turkey, and Indonesia, Papua New Guinea.

Nussir ASA

The company holds the 100% exploration right of the amounts of gold, silver, platinum, palladium add copper available in Nussir field. The economic contribution of the project in the local community was the core arguments of the company during the conflict.

The company interacted with the local people during all the decision-making process, and strongly support that all the necessary legal procedure has been followed during the application process.

Ministry of LGM

The Ministry is responsible for housing policy, the Planning and Building Act, local government finances and local administration, ICT Policy and Public Sector Reform, rural and regional policy, the conduct of elections, government employer policy, Sami and minority affairs and national mapping and geodata policy.

Ministry of CE

The Ministry of Climate and Environment has a particular responsibility for carrying out the environmental policies of the Government.

Ministry of TIF

The Ministry is responsible for the trade, industry and seafood policy.

NEA

Its tasks and responsibilities focus on managing Norwegian nature and preventing pollution. Its report for the Repparfjord showed medium negative impacts on the fishery industry, but higher on the reindeers. However, it found that the project will not cause irreversible manage to the fjord nature.

DMA

It is responsible for administrating the extraction of mineral resources in Norway.

DoF

Monitors Norwegian and foreign fishing vessel's activities.

MRI Marine Research Institute

It is Norway's largest center of marine science. Their main task is to provide advice to Norwegian authorities on aquaculture and the ecosystems of the Barents Sea, the Norwegian Sea, the North Sea and the Norwegian coastal zone.

Its report for the Repparfjord showed the potential negative impacts of the mining activities in the marine ecosystem in the fjord.

Finnmark County Council

Finnmark Country Council is highest governing body of the county municipalities in Norway.

Finnmark County⁷¹

It is the regional governing administration for Finnmark County, located in in the town of Vadsø. It holds responsibilities on economic and social development on the region, as well as on constructions, roads, upper secondary education and cultural services.

Under the current legislation, county together with Municipality is eligible to authorise permission for environmental projects. It has been opposed to the project, with the claims that it will have negative environmental impacts in the region.

Sami Parliament

It is a representative organisation of indigenous Sami people. It has a value of an institution and according to the current Norwegian legislation, Sami Parliament has the right to oppose to environmental decisions. This right has been used during the decision-making process, where they have been opposed regarding the environmental impacts of the mining activities, which consequently will negatively influence their interest in the region.

Sami have been inhabited in Finnmark region before Norway, adhered the region. In the area where the zone planning of the mining activities covers, Sami communities use this territory for husbandry purposes.

22 Fiettar

District 22 Fiettar is a reindeer community, between the Repparfjord and Porsa, to Sennalandet (or district 22), who uses this area for graving purposes during spring/summer/fall. They hold an oppose position during the conflict as they claimed that the mining project blocks the migration routes to and from Kvaløya (Rør 2018;56).

⁷¹ In original language Finnmark fylkeskommune

FeFo

It is the landowner and own legal entity in Finnmark, that manages land and natural resources in accordance with Finnmark Act. The body of FeFo own 95% of Finnark that have been transferred from state to local ownership⁷².

Finnmark gjenvinning

District 22 Fiettar is a reindeer community, between the Repparfjord and Porsa, to Sennalandet (or district 22), who uses this area for graving purposes during spring/summer/fall. They hold an oppose position during the conflict as they claimed that the mining project blocks the migration routes to and from Kvaløya (Rør 2018:103).

10 Stakeholders⁷³

It is an alliance of 10 stakeholders, from private and civil society sectors. The private sectors consist of the top biggest seafood companies in Norway companies and other related to the fish industry sectors. Where the civil society consist of fishery and handers associations.

They expressed their opposition, by sending a letter to Ministry of environment and climate, expressing their concerns on the environmental impacts of the mining activities, which they will have negative influence on their economic interests in the Repparfjord area. Some of the companies e.g Grieg Seafood Finnmark AS, is a globally leading fish farming company, having activities in the region with an important contribution to local value creation.

⁷² <u>https://www.fefo.no/om-fefo/</u> Accessed May 15 2019.

⁷³ Cermaq Norway AS, Grieg Seafood Finnmark AS, Norway Royal Salmon Finnmark AS, FHL Nordnorsk havbrukslag, Kvalsund Kystfiskarlag, Fiskarlaget Nord, Hammerfest Fiskarlag, BIVDI, sjøsamisfangst og fiskeriorganisasjon, Vest-Finnmark Jeger og Fiskeriforening, Norske Lakseelver (It is and Industry organisation for licenses and leasing association for fishing of salmon, trout, and sea trout. https://lakseelver.no/nb/norske-lakseelver Accessed May 2019)

6 Findings

6.1 First phase



In the first phase of the mining project in 2010, there were many stakeholders that had to be engaged according to the regulations, based on the zone planning and land use. Since the municipality had initially the power to grant the permit to Nussir ASA it had also responsibility to include different stakeholders.

In the proposal document the Kvalsund (Kvalsund Municipality decision 2012) municipality expressed their opinion of the Repparfjord mining project. In general, the consequence of the mining waste has negative impacts whether it is the land or marine solution. The initial investments of the startup investment are a hundred times more expensive on the land versus the marine solution (Kvalsund Municipality decision 2012:22-23).

Additionally, the day to day operations are also concluded to be ten times more expensive on land, so Nussir will not pursue a land solution.

However, the conclusion regarding marine tailing waste solution and the surrounding ecosystems are that there will be severe negative consequences if this solution is chosen. This is the reason this decision was proposed to public hearing.

The stakeholders from different sectors were involved in the decision-making process and this case was particularly relevant to the fishery community since the level of pollution in the fjords water is the main concern.

Moreover, the Repparfjord is a wild salmon protected area that has a special environmental status. At this stage of the conflict there were mixed feelings between stakeholders. The Institute of Marine Research was claiming that the marine solution will invoke irreversible damages to the ecosystems.

Opposing to the Kvalsund municipality that perceived this project as opportunity for economic growth. The EIA's played an important part in phase one. Alongside the civil society that have been participating in the public hearing

6.2 Second phase



During this period (2015-2016), Nussir ASA, applied for permission to tailing waste into the water, as it requested under\from the PC Act. Firstly, the power to grand the permission holds the NEA. Due to the appeals, the power to grand the final decision for this permission transferred to the Ministry of CE.

However, appeals from private and civil society sectors have been granted first for the knowledge used in the assessment process. The Alliance of 10 stakeholder in their letter to NEA (17.03.2015) prior to Nussir's ASA application for license under the PC Act, recognised the growth and the economic contribution of the mineral activities in the area.

The assessment made by NEA concluded that no significant effects have been noted for the species live in the fjord and especially to the wild salmon (NE Agency decision 2016:47). Although, the report stressed the negative consequences to reindeer husbandry in the absence of mitigating measures, from the land disposal (Ibid).

Moreover, appeals have been granted from different actors regarding the legal compatibility of the decision. In 22.12.2015 the organisation Friends of the Earth Norway⁷⁴ among with 11 other NGOs, Organisations and Unions⁷⁵ sent a complain letter to EFTA⁷⁶ accusing the Norwegian government that the decision did not comply with the Water Framework Directorate⁷⁷. In details they claimed that the permission violates *"the article 4.7 and article 1 of the WFD, as well as the article 4.1 and 10.1, which refers to the high danger of concentration of nickel in the tailings"* (Naturvernforbundet 2015:1).

Likewise, Sami Parliament requested from Ministry of CE to reject the permission of application given by NEA to Nussir ASA. Sami argued that their established rights to sustain themselves and their culture through the exploitation of the natural resources in Sami areas was violated.

This phase of the conflict shows the continuation on the conflict over the knowledge used during the assessment period. Furthermore, the stakeholders based their appeals on the adversary of their interest with the decision.

⁷⁴ In Norwegian Naturvernforbundet.

⁷⁵ Natur og Ungdom (Nature and Youth), Vevring og Førdefjorden miljøgruppe, Friends of the Earth Europe, Norske Lakseelver (Norwegian Salmon Rivers), Greenpeace Norway, WWF Norway, Norges Jeger- og Fiskerforbund (Norwegian association of Hunters and Anglers), SABIMA (The Norwegian Biodiversity Network), Framtiden I våre hender (Future in our hands), Den Norske Turistforening (The Norwegian Trekking Association), Norges Kystfiskarlag (Union for Norwegian coastal fishermen). The Norwegian Fishermen's Association (Norges Fiskarlag) supported the complain.

⁷⁶ European Free Trade Association, Surveillance Authority, Brussels.

⁷⁷ In October 2000, EU adopted the EU Water Framework Directive (WFD), to ensure the protection and sustainable use of water.

The Alliance of 10 stakeholders in their letter, they strongly opposed to the knowledge, which have been used in the assessment report by NE Agency. They further supported that their economic interests will be adversary affected by the mining activities, a fact that they perceived as threat for their industry (fishery) (10 Stakeholders). With their movement to allied together, wanted to show that they are strong research and financial power for the region, but as their knowledge and opinion has been neglected from the authorities, it seems that the government perceived their influence as low.

Likewise, Norske Laskeelver send an individually letter to Ministry of CE on 28.12.2015 to complain about the knowledge used in the process. They argued that the argument that the salmon has a short residence time in the fjord and migrate quickly was false. Laskeelver accused that this conclusion was not based on the best available knowledge (Norske Lakseelver:2).

They further argued their appealed to NE Agency's decision that the decision is defective as there is a legally binding instrument, which protect the wild salmon (Ibid:2). They referred to § 7 of the PC Act, which obligates the government when it takes decisions or actions that may affect the salmon's living conditions to take these considerations into account to protect the national salmon foundations.

Geode Consult AS made a report with title "Potential for mine water contamination after cessation of mining at Nussir" for Nussir ASA. The report was technical with focus on the geological effects in the fjord. It concluded, "*that mine waste will not generate acid rock drainage. Leach testing showed that very little copper was leached from the sample*" (Ettner & Sanne 2016:1). In other words, the report did not recognise that the chemicals would have negative effects on the fauna and flora of the fjord.

However, in the report it is written that the research and the project's prediction was based on the available data and mine plans. The company came out with a result without collecting primary data and samples (Ibid:11).

This fact can be one more confirmation on the complains coming from the fishery industry, about the inadequate data and knowledge, which have been used in the impact assessments.

In 2006, the Minister of CE, Vidar Helgesen stated in the governmental announcement that: "the environmental impacts of the mining activities have been comprehensively assessed. The permit is granted with strict conditions, and is

environmentally acceptable" (Ministry of Climate and Environment 2016). This statement is a confirmation that the project by governmental opinion would not damage the environment and the eco-systems of the area.

Both stakeholders here it seems that they did use of their power to produce and present knowledge, which was convenient for them and their interest. However, the Ministry had bigger influence as the executive actor.

However, the organisation Friends of Earth Norway and Youth and Nature had another opinion and expressed that they "...believe the decision on mining in Nussir and Ulveryggen and the discharge permit for landfill of mining waste in Repparfjorden should not be legally enforceable and the project is rejected"⁷⁸ (Naturvernforbundet and Natur og Ungdom:20). The organisation has been used its advocacy role in the whole process to spread the awareness of the negative impact in the environment, which seems to be hidden by authorities. They further tried to win the interest of the public and stop the project.

Strongly opposition on the NE Agency's decision hold also by the Sami Parliament. In their complain letter (08.12.2015) sent to Ministry of CE they stated that after consultation between NE Agency and Sami Parliament, both "*parties disagree on whether to grant a permit pursuant to the PC Act for Nussir ASA*⁷⁹" (Sametinget 2015). They made it clear that there was no agreement between them and the NE Agency.

They further argued that the pollution-related disadvantages for Sami industries⁸⁰ are so large compared with the benefits that the project otherwise supposed to entail. They added that the consequences are so big that it is difficult to set measurements for mitigation. They also wrote that both the operational under PC Act and zone planning permission were against their right and reported the violation of the Civil and Political Rights Convention (SP) of 1966 Article 27⁸¹.

However, NEA supported that they have set strict conditions for the chemical release and for maximum permitted noise. As well as they set requirements for monitoring the

⁷⁸ In authors' own translation.

⁷⁹ In authors' own translation

⁸⁰ Fishery and husbandry.

⁸¹ In original language "De forurensningsmessige effektene av gruvedriften vil derfor, etter vår vurdering, ikke innebære en innskrenking av samisk kulturutøvelse, jf. FN konvensjonen om sivile og politiske rettigheter av 1966 artikkel 27".

emissions and what effect they will cause to land and the sea according to § 16 of PC Act (NE Agency 2016:46-47). In other words that these strict conditions and requirements need to be followed (while mining activities) to prevent undesirable pollution and consequently disadvantages for the natural resources in the area. Furthermore, NEA's report concluded that there will not be pollutant effects on the Sami culture practice, therefore NEA did not recognise violation of the UN Convention on Civil and Political Rights of 1966, Article 27 (Ibid:47).

In this stage of the conflict the Sami Parliament, stand against the decision, to protect its established right. The social dynamics were in tension throughout the whole process of the decision so far. This also reflected on the fact that the decision passed from the Agency level to Ministerial, as the Sami and NE Agency could not come to an agreement.

In the Ministerial announcement is stated, "consider that the complaints do not give foundation for changing the assessments previously made and upholds the decision. The decision is final and cannot be further appealed" (Ministry of Climate and Environment 2016). This statement referred to the appeals raised by Sami Parliament and NGOs and verify one more time that the process was participatory to an extent, that authorities let it be.

The analysis of this stage shows the decisive character of government to give permission to Nussir AS, besides the appeals and complaints. The confrontation in this stage is mainly due to the incompatible character of the decision with the PC Act. All the opposed stakeholders accused the government that the knowledge used in the impact assessments is inadequate.

The opponents' opinion repeatedly raised their voices that the interests causing controversy. The private sector, the civil society and the Sami Parliament made their position clear against the process of the decision. They did not hold power as they did not have executive power, but they used their advocacy role, to attract attention and spread awareness on the unlawful processes of the decision.

However, the proponents of the decision did not find a collision of interest. They kept their position that there were no significant potential impacts on the water in the Repparfjord and consequently in the fishery industry. The most significant outcome in this stage is that the stakeholders coming from the fishery industry is proven to have a weak voice throughout the process. From this moment, the fisheries perspective it has been neglected, and the focus turned to reindeer husbandry. 6.3 Third phase



During this period, the Nussir ASA applied for the operational license under the Mineral Act in 2016. This application went on public hearing on 21st of June 2017, with consultation deadline 1st of September 2017. The public consultation held by the TIF Ministry.

The County of Finnmark and the NEA pointed out their requirements for strict operational control to protect the reindeer's husbandry and strict control and monitoring over the pollution (TIF Ministerial decision 2019:6-7).

The DoF continued opposing the license and continued underlined the negative consequences in fishing industry in local and regional level. In the official document, it is presented the DoF's opinion that there are new results from surveys from 2017 that were not known at the time of the preparation of the zoning plan or when processing the emission permit for the measure (TIF Ministry decision 2019:7).

The FeFo recognised the positive contribution of the Nussir project and emphasised that the project can have positive social spill over Sami people, through increased settlements in marginalized coastal areas (Ibid:7).

Sami Parliament opposed to decision and accused for violation of the Section 43, fourth paragraph of the Mineral Act (ibid:8). Furthermore, they underlined that the mineral administration is obliged to assess the effects of the decision on Sami culture, business practices and livelihood according to UN Convention on Civil and Political Rights Article 27. Furthermore, the Sami Parliament referred to the ILO Convention No. 167 Articles 6 and 7, which impose an obligation on the state to consult the indigenous peoples when considers introducing a legislation or administrative measure, that may have direct impacts on them.

The last decision on the permission has been given by the Ministry of TIF in 2019, which reaffirmed the first decision of Kvalsund Municipality. There requirements included in the decision, set the operational (reports) and financial terms (creation of financial security) which the company has to follow before and during the works. Furthermore, the final decision included clarifications on the exact time when and here the activities will take place, as a measurement to minimize the impact on reindeer's husbandry (Ibid:2-5).

The Nussir ASA's CEO, Øystein Rushfeldt admitted that "...all mining has negative consequences for disturbing the environment, use of land and other effects and it doesn't matter if the tailings are placed on land or in sea, it's always consequences (Nielsen (b)2019)".

The lack of adequate knowledge was an argument throughout the process from cross sectors stakeholder. As evident can be argued the fact that the following stakeholders Reinbeitedistrikt 20 Fàla, Sami Njarga AS, Repparfjord eiendom AS, Yeoman Halsvik AS, Hammerfest Energi AS, have been authorized by the TIF Ministry, Fishery department to be part of the public hearings. However, statements regarding their opinion were not included in the official outcome document of the public hearings.

From another stakeholder perspective, the chair or Friends of the Earth Norway, Silje Ask Lundberg gave a phone interview at the Real World Radio⁸² stated that "*this project is one of the most environmentally damaging industrial project in Norwegian history*"

⁸² It is a communication platform between the Friends of the Earth around the world. <u>https://rwr.fm/who-we-are/</u> Accessed on April 30 2019.

(Lundberg 2019). She added that even scientists raised their concern about the impact of the chemicals and metals, which will be used in the project as well as copper waste and mercury dumping in the sea, the government, did not stop the permission process (Ibid). The cross sectors stakeholders pointed out in every argument that the knowledge used did not represent different types of knowledge, as the ecosystem principles required.

This phase of the conflict it can be argued that shows a scaling up from local level to regional and consequently to national level and national level. The leveraging referring to the relationship between the costs and effect of the decision.

The Minister of Trade and Industry Torbjørn Røe Isaksen⁸³ (CP) in his interview at the NRK Sampi webpage⁸⁴ gave his explanation why his ministry gave the final permission to Nussir ASA. His core argument is stated as: "it will make a *positive contribution on the development of the local community, with new jobs, industrial skills and economic growth*⁸⁵" (Mariela Idivuoma 2019).

Moreover, he underlined that the *"reindeer husbandry interest and the consideration of Sami culture have been important in the Ministry's assessment over the application for permission*^{"86} (Ibid). With this statement, the Minister wanted to show the willingness that the government evaluated and included the consideration of Sami.

Still, Beaska Niilas, representative from the Norwegian Sami Association brought a different opinion about the Repparfjord project and he stated that *"is a test pilot project to see if it is possible to destroy indigenous land in the north of Norway. If they manage to open this then it will be open for grab by anyone" (Nielsen (b) 2019).* His statement reflects the tensioned relationships between the central government and the Sami people, which led to the unresolved status of the conflict

However, the explanation from Minister Torbjørn Røe Isaksen (CP) aligns with the claims of Minister of Local Government and Modernisation, Jan Tore Sanner, (CP) that this project is needed to support the green shift that Norway is investing on (Regjeringen,

⁸³ He belongs to Conservative Party, Høyre.

⁸⁴ Same article by the journalist Mariela Idivuoma, published 23.02.2019.

⁸⁵ In original text "Den vil særlig gi et positivt bidrag til utviklingen av lokalsamfunnet rundt, med nye arbeidsplasser, industriell kompetanse og økonomisk vekst."

⁸⁶ In original text "Denne gruvedriften berører to reinbeitedistrikter og jeg understreker at reindriftsinteressene og hensynet til samisk kultur har vært viktig i departementets vurdering av søknaden.

Ministry of Environment and Climate 2016). Furthermore, both of them underlined the economic development in the area as the outcome of the project APSD 2004:20). A statement, which is in agreement with the position of Mayor of Kvaslund Terje Wikstrøm (LP), who had the initial executive power to permit the project.

At his interview at "The Barents Observer" (Nielsen b 2019, b), the Mayor welcomed the mining project, and confirmed the position Municipal position presented in the outcome decision. Where it stated "there are limited opportunities for other business activities in the municipality. The project is estimated to provide many new jobs⁸⁷" (TIF Ministry decision 2019:6). The Kvalsund Municipality made their position and interest to growth clear from the beginning of the conflict.

However, a survey (held by InFact for) presented in NRK Fimmark showed that 45.4% of the population in County of Finnmark did not support the mining project and the tailing dumping into the sea in Kvalsund. A 38,7% supported the project and 16% were not sure (Klo and Jakobsen 2017). The opposition expresses mainly from the population aged 30 to 44 years old, where the youngest population, 18-29 years showed support.

In another research, the local population, excluded reindeer herder showed a positive attitude towards the mining activities (Rør 2018). They considered that they will not be affected by the project, and they expected to see more benefits than costs. However, their interest is not strong in the area (Ibid:87).

In national level, Norway is depending on the natural resources extraction industry (Nilsen (b) 2019) and further the Minister or Trade and Industry underlined that the economic development was priority for the Ministry. The mining sector was important in that stage for Government, as copper is mandatory to the "green shift", which government works on (Mariela Idivuoma 2019). This statement can be consider as confirmation to current administration agenda, which promotes extractive developments.

Furthermore, Minister of Trade and Industry, Torbjørn Røe Isaksen in another interview in Barents Observer media, he commented regarding the green shift and the global respond to climate change, *"most of the copper we mine in the world today is used for*

⁸⁷ In original language "Kommunen peker på at det er begrensede muligheter for annen næringsvirksomhet i kommunen og at prosjektet er anslått å gi mange nye arbeidsplasser."

transporting electricity. If you look at an electric car for example, it has three times the amount of copper compared to a regular car" (Nilsen (b) 2019). With this statement, he tried to convince the public that Norway response to the global growing demand for copper with the scope to tackle the climate change. He further argued that Norway is able to do extractive projects in sustainable way (Ibid).

The argument about the "green shift" that Norway tries to achieve, have been criticised though by the NGO Friends of Earth. The chair of the organisation accused government that violated the law (with the decision) and "*is hiding behind, that this is part of the green shift, we need the copper…to reach our renewable society…hide behind that we are environmentally friendly mind (RealWorldRadio).*"

The above argument shows the complexity of the decision related to the costs and effects of the decision. During the whole process, the stakeholders were arguing about the negative effects of the mining activities in the environment of the fjord, which consequently adversary would affect the economic interest of the stakeholders who sustain themselves form the natural resources in the area. They further argued that there are costs that you cannot see or predict for the close future.

The proponents of the decision were arguing that the economic benefits of the decision are big and much necessary for the region. Then the argument turned to the national economic benefits from the mining activities, which Norwegian authorities projected it as the contribution of Norway to international responses to tackle climate change.

This part of the conflict reflected on the potential economic spill overs from the mining activities. Rhodes argues that the interdependency of the international constraints affects the decision-making process on the national level. The case of Norway seems to follow Rhodes argument, as the main argument of the Kvalsund Municipality was that the economic development of the small municipalities, contributes to the overall economic development of the region. Moreover, the country's interdependence on the international market and increasing demands of copper, have been proven to influence the decision and placed the executive power to the core, where the political agenda on "green shift" overlap the local developments.

Moreover, the decision related to environmental governance should take into consideration the internal and external interdependencies of the country as well as the international commitments which it follows (Rhodes 2000, p.30). In the process of decentralilsation, when local authorities or region, get authority it also creates a gap between relationships in the public sector (state and periphery). This is also proven in the case of Norway, where the Finnmark Region authorities strongly opposed to the central administration agenda.

Likewise, commitments can influence the decision. In the case of Norway, the international commitment to protect Sami rights and livelihood have been used by the Sami Parliament to appeal the decision. Consequently, the discussions due to the appeals lasted many years and the last decision will be taken by King's Court.

The most significant though is the Norwegian commitment to international Conventions and Agreements. Norwegian government based their core argument on the contribution of the country to tackle the climate change by being "green". This can be translated as the country perceived the global benefits higher than the local one.

7 Discussion

The study case of Norway has been particularly relevant for this thesis since it has contributed to a deeper understanding of the complexities that environmental governance consists of. Norway presents a strong democratic state that has rule of law, decentralised government and functional institutions.

Norwegian administrative system represents a paradigm shift from economic to ecosystem considerations. The Repparfjord controversy explains not only the process but also the length of one environmental decision. It took nine years of ongoing disputes and still consensus has not been achieved between involved stakeholders.

The Norwegian government has established a two-tier administrative system that allocates power to local government. The environmental responsibilities became instrumental not only to the local governments but also to private and civil society

On the first phase of the conflict, the role of civil society was included in the process.

Another concern in this case is that even the governance followed a participatory process, giving place to other stakeholders to express their opinion, to succeed a prosperous decision for all and the environment. However, the findings show that it is not enough to have a participatory decision-making process when the participation cannot have an impact on the decisions.

The process of decentralisation led to the involvement of different stakeholders with different power and interests. Therefore, social relationships, which involve various stakeholders, consequently caused conflicts since they have different interests (economic development, political agenda, and technology).

A participatory process does not necessary mean that different types of knowledge are considered. The longer the process takes most likely the knowledge can jeopardies the decision's outcomes, as it will be discarded. The alliance of private sector and private sector and NGO's was initially very impressive, but in the end did lead to their favorable outcome.

The connection between power and knowledge is proven strong and influential. Whose knowledge the decision authorities used to assess an environmental decision and how the pros and cons in economic, social and environmental perspective are evaluated, is crucial element for an effective decision.

In the real world, local knowledge should be along with the scientific, to create effective decisions and precautionary measurements. However, in this case study Norway are willing to dismiss the user's knowledge.

From the theoretical aspect, environmental governance is a "socio political system" of interactions and interventions of all actors involved in the process (Kooiman, 1993:258). Which recognizes that knowledge between all actors is important since no singular actor possess all knowledge and information to solve complex problems (Kooiman (a) 1993:4).

This explains that every actor in the particular policy are interdependent on each other knowledge and where all can contribute equally. The knowledge and resources do not possess by a singular actor, it is a system of sharing and contribution to the policy (Rhodes 1996:657). Furthermore, it represents the collision between the socio-political system and socio-economic power. Additionally, this conflict has demonstrated that precaution should persist when talking about political shift and decentralisation since there is a various implication that needs to be addressed by the scientific community.

It seems that under the environmental governance that has changed the traditional way of governing, the relationships between power politics and democratic norms of government has also changed (Griffin 2010:288). It leads to different power allocation between the stakeholders since the state is not the main body of power. Since the Norwegian government acknowledges the interdependencies between the ecosystems and

human impact, the main governmental agenda is still the economic welfare of the state (Kim&Yoon:1062).

In the case of Repparfjord mining conflict, it can be argued that the stakeholders protect their own interest. In a socio-political system, there are stakeholders that protect either economic or political interest or interest based on culture. The main weakness of decentralised state caused by the fragmentation of power by allocating responsibilities. However, the state assigns more power on the rest of the responsibilities. Therefore, when higher decision is taken, the economic and political interests outweigh all other interest (Rør 2018:103).

8 Conclusion

In Norway, as the research has shown, the local and the regional government has responsibilities in addressing environmental issues. However, relationships between the stakeholders in environmental governance are complicated. The governmental institutions can be established as an effective administrative body, but the whole decision-making process can take many years to reach consensus and resolution that is satisfactory to all parties involved.

The mining conflict reveals the complexities of the relationships between the stakeholders in a decentralised state. In the three phases of the conflict, the stakeholders' influence and power of the opposing side either disappeared or was removed by the administrative system processes.

Despite the growing body of knowledge regarding the negative environmental consequences, the stakeholders of the proponent side were getting more influential and more powerful. As a result, no decision could be made on the local level.

Norway represents a decentralised governance decision-making process that does not prove efficient due to the many stakeholders ongoing opposing views and lack of consenting decision to move forward with the best possible solution for the environment. Therefore, the Norwegian government ends up being the central governing decision body instead of decentralised system.

The Arctic consists of eight different countries, among the biggest countries in the world, and they hold central power and function under different institutional systems. On

May 8th, 2019, The Arctic Council Ministerial meeting for the first time did not reach a consensus between the member states. The reason is that some states felt uncomfortable with the interference of non-Arctic states. It possesses the main challenge in the Arctic because environmental governance does not have an institutional arrangement that has executive power of the decisions. The Arctic states own individual environmental governance is proven to be weak to respond to the increasing demand for actions towards ecosystem preservation.

In order for the Arctic countries to strengthen their environmental governance, they may have to establish a central governing system with decision power. However, the Arctic countries are among the biggest in the world, with strong individual economic and political agendas, facts that may procrastinate this implementation. Hence, for this purpose, it may be valuable to conduct more scientific research in the area of environmental governance decision-making process.

Bibliography

- Agenda 2030.2016. "Norway's Follow up of Agenda 2030 and the Sustainable Development Goals." New York. Retrieved from <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/globalassets/departementene/ud/vedlegg/utvikling/sdg_ra</u> <u>pport_full_en.pdf</u>
- Akvaplan-niva. 2011. "Konsekvenser for Det Marine Miljøet i Repparfjorden Ved Etablering Av Sjø- Eller Landdeponi for Gruveavgang Fra Nussir Og Ulveryggen i Kvalsund Kommune, Finnmark." Tromsø. Retrieved from <u>www.akvaplan.niva.no</u>.
- AMAP. 2017. "Snow, Water, Ice and Permafrost in the Arctic" (SWIPA) 2017. xiv + 269 pp, Oslo, Norway: Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP).
- Andersson, Krister P. 2004. "Who Talks with Whom? The Role of Repeated Interactions in Decentralized Forest Governance." World Development 32: 233–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2003.07.007</u>.
- Atkisson, A., Arnbom, T., Tesar, C., Christensen, A. 2018. "Getting It Right in a New Ocean: Bringing Sustainable Blue Economy Principles to the Arctic." Retrieved from <u>http://arcticwwf/ocean</u>.
- APSD. 2004. "Norway's Action Plan for Sustainable Development." https://www.regjeringen.no/. Retrieved from https://www.regjeringen.no/globalassets/upload/fin/berekraftig/nat_action.pdf.
- Arun, Agrawal. 2001. "The Regulatory Community: Decentralization and the Environment in the Van Panchayats (Forest Councils) of Kumaon, India." Mountain Research and Development 21(3) 208-211.
- Biodiversity Action Plan.2016. Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment. "Nature for Life" Norway's national biodiversity action plan. Report to the Storting (white paper) (2015–2016). Chapter 4-9. Retrieved from <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/902deab2906342dd823906d06ed05db2/en-gb/pdfs/stm201520160014000engpdfs.pdf</u>
- Blaesbjerg, Mette, Janet Pawlak, Thomas Kirk Sorensen, and Ole Vestergaard. 2009. "Marine Spatial Planning in the Nordic Region Principles, Perspectives and Opportunities - Outcomes from the Nordic Forum on MPAs in Marine Spatial Planning." Norden.

- Brattland, Camilla. 2013. "Proving Fishers Right. Effects of the Integration of Experience-Based Knowledge in Ecosystem-Based Management." Acta Borealia 30 (1): 39–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08003831.2013.768053</u>.
- Brinkerhoff, Derick W. 2013. "Enabling Environmental Parthnerships: The Role of Good Governanc in Madagascar's Forest Sector." In Partnerships, Governance and Sustainable Development, edited by Pieter Glasbergen, Frank Biermann, and Arthur Mol. Edward ElgarPublishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.4337/9781847208668.00015</u>.
- Brundtland. 1987. "Our common future: Report of the World Commision on Environment and Development". Oxford: Brundtland Commision.
- Bryant, Raymond L. 2015. "The International Handbook of Political Ecology". Cheltenham, UK, Northampton, MA, USA: Edward Elgar.
- Carson, M. and G. Peterson (eds). (2016). "Arctic Resilience Report". Arctic Council, Stockholm Environment Institute and Stockholm Resilience Centre, Stockholm. Retrieved from http://www.arctic-council.org/arr.
- Cash, David, William C. Clark, Frank Alcock, Nancy M. Dickson, Noelle Eckley, and Jill Jäger. 2003. "Salience, Credibility, Legitimacy and Boundaries: Linking Research, Assessment and Decision Making." SSRN. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.372280</u>.
- CE Ministry decision 2016. Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment. "Avgjørelse av klager på tillatelse etter forurensningsloven til gruvedrift i Nussir og Ulveryggen med deponering av avgangsmasser i sjødeponi i Reppartjorden". Vår ref. 12/5816. 19.12.2016. Retrieved from <u>https://docplayer.me/47076940-Det-kongelige-og-</u> <u>miljodepartement.html</u>
- Dannevig, Halvor, and Brigt Dale. 2018. "The Nussir Case and the Battle for Legitimacy: Scientific Assessments, Defining Power and Political Contestation." In The Will to Drill- Mining in Arctic Communities, 151–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62610-9_8</u>.
- David C. Ettner, and Elisabeth H. Sanne. 2016. "Geode Consult AS: Potential for Mine Water Contamination after Cessation of Mining at Nussir." Retrieved from http://www.nussir.no/environmental-pub/reports/2016-05-06 - Geode Consult -Potential for mine water contamination after mine closure.pdf.
- Eckersley, Robyn. 2017. "Global environmental politics." In An Introduction to International Relations, by Jim George, Sarah Percy Richard Devetak, 493-505. Cambridge: Cambridge.

- Eva Irene Falleth & Sissel Hovik (2009) "Local government and nature conservation in Norway: decentralisation as a strategy in environmental policy" Local Environment. vol.14 (3), 221-231, DOI:10.1080/13549830802692849
- Flyvbjerg, Bent. 2006. "Five Misunderstandings about Case-Study Research." Qualitative Inquiry 12: 219–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800405284363.
- Garcia, S M, A Zerbi, C Aliaume, T Do Chi, G Lasserre, and FAO. 2003. "The Ecosystem Approach to Fisheries. Issues, Terminology, Principles, Institutional\rfoundations, Implementation and Outlook." FAO Fisheries Technical Paper. Rome.
- Gray, T.S. 2005. "Theorising about Participatory Fisheries Governance, in Participation in Fisheries Governance". Dordrecht: Springer. vol. 4, 1-25
- Griffin, Liza. 2010. "The Limits to Good Governance and the State of Exception: A Case Study of North Sea Fisheries." Geoforum, 282–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2009.10.007</u>.
- Haque, M. S.. 2000 Vol.5 (1). "Environmental Discourse and Sustaianable Development:Linkages and Limitations. Ethics and the Environment." Indiana University Press, 3-21.
- Johnsen, Kathrine Ivsett. 2016. "Land-Use Conflicts between Reindeer Husbandry and Mineral Extraction in Finnmark, Norway: Contested Rationalities and the Politics of Belonging." Polar Geography. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1088937X.2016.1156181</u>.
- Keping, Yu. 2017. "Governance and Good Governance: A New Framework for Political Analysis." Fudan Journal of the Humanities and Social Sciences. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40647-017-0197-4</u>.
- Kim, Doo R., and Jong Han Y.. 2018. "Decentralization, Government Capacity, and Environmental Policy Performance: A Cross-National Analysis." International Journal of Public Administration. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2017.1318917</u>.
- Kjær, Anne M. 2011. "Rhodes' Contribution to Governance Theory: Praise, Criticism and the Future Governance Debate." Public Administration 89 (1): 101–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9299.2011.01903.x</u>.
- Koiman, J. 1993. "Modern Governance: New Government-Society Interactions." London: Saga. 288.

- Kooiman (a), J. 1993. "Socio-political governance": Intoduction in Modern Governance: New Government-Society Interactions, by J. Kooiman. London: Saga.1-6.
- Kvalsund Municipality decision 2012.Kvalsund Municipality. "Reguleringplan Nussir-Med Konsekvensutredning. Arkin:L12. Arkivsaksnr:10/53.
- Leggett, Jane A. 2019. "Potential Implications of U.S. Withdrawal from the Paris Agreement on Climate Change." Retrieved from https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/IF10668.pdf.
- Lemos, M. C. & Arun A. 2006. "Environmental Governance." Annual Review of Environment and Resources 31 (1): 297–325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.energy.31.042605.135621</u>.
- Local Government in Norway.2014. Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. "Local Government in Norway" 2014. Retrieved from <u>http://www.mddsz.gov.si/fileadmin/mddsz.gov.si/pageuploads/dokumenti</u> pdf/enake <u>moznosti/NFMStudijski2LokalnoUpravljanje.pdf</u>
- Marsh, D., Richards D., & Smith M. 2003. "Unequal Plurality: Towards an Asymmetric Power Model of British Politics." Government and Opposition 38 (3): 306–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1477-7053.t01-1-00017</u>.
- March, J. G., & Olsen. P. J. 1995. In Governing Beyond the Centre: A Critique of the Anglo-governance School. 51 (3):592-608 by Marinetto Mike. New York: The free Press.
- Miljødirektoratet. 2016. "Oversendelse Av Tillatelse Til Virksomhet Etter Forurensningsloven - Nussir ASA." Oslo. Retrieved from <u>http://www.miljodirektoratet.no/Documents/Nyhetsdokumenter/nussir_tillatelse081215</u> <u>-1.pdf</u>.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment.2015. "Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis." Washington, DC: Island Press. Retrieved from <u>https://www.millenniumassessment.org/documents/document.356.aspx.pdf</u>
- Ministry of LGM Decision. Norwegian Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. 2014. "Kvalsund kommune innsigelse til reguleringsplan for Nussir Og Ulveryggen". Vår ref. 14/1014.20.03.2014

Naturvernforbundet. 2015. "New Complaint and Addition to the Complaint : Norway Has

Failed to Comply with the Water Framework Directive." Naturvernforbundet. Retrieved from https://naturvernforbundet.no/getfile.php/1392479-1450873979/Fylkeslag - Finnmark/Bilde/Additional complaint WFD-Repparfjord-Førdefjorden-1.pdf

- Naturvernforbundet, and Natur og Ungdom. n.d. "Klage på ved tak-Gruvedrifti Nussir/Ulveryggen og Utslipps til laterse for dumpinggav gruveavfalli Reppargfjorden".
- NE Agency.2016. Norwegian Environmental Agency. Oversendelse av tillatelse til virksomhet etter forurensningsloven - Nussir ASA. Vår ref.2016/398. Oslo.(15.01.2016) Retrieved from <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/0da96c16ad2b49f59afc736215ac1056/nuss</u> <u>ir-begrunnelse-l322224.pdf</u>
- NIVA Report 2019. Jens Skei et al. 2019. "Mining industry and tailings disposal (2010). Annex with updates on status (2019)". Norwegian Environment Agency. M-no 1335|2019:138. Retrieved from https://www.miljodirektoratet.no/globalassets/publikasjoner/m1335/m1335.pdf
- Nordic Council, of Ministers. 2019. "Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (VMEs) Coral and Sponge VMEs in Arctic and Sub-Arctic Waters – Distribution and Threats." Copenhagen. <u>https://doi.org/10.6027/TN2019-519</u>.
- Norske Lakseelver. n.d. "Klage På Tillatelse Til Virksomhet Etter Forurensningsloven-Nussir ASA." Oslo.
- Nussir ASA. 2016. "Nussir ASA Annual Report and Financial Statements for 2016." Kvalsund. Retrieved from http://www.nussir.no/financial_reports/2016 aarsberetning.pdf.
- Peters, B. Guy. 1995. "Governance in a Changing Environment." In "Introducing the Topic", by B. Guy Peters and Donald J. Savoje. Montreal and Kingston, Canadian Centre for Management Development and McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Rhodes, R. A.W. 1996. "The New Governance: Governing without Government." Political Studies 44 (4): 652–67. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9248.1996.tb01747.x.
- Rhodes, R.A.W. 2000. "Governance and Public Administration." University of NewCastle, Newcastle-upon-Tyne.
- Rhodes, R.A.W. 2007. "Understanding Governance: Ten Years On." Organization Studies 28 (8): 1243–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840607076586.

- Rør, Anders Vieth. 2018. "Mining or Traditional Use : Conflicts in the Northern Norwegian Copper Frontier." Norwegian University of Life Sciences. Faculty of Landscape and Society.
- TIF Ministry decision 2019. 2019. Norwegian Ministry of Trade Industry and Fisheries. "Vedtak om driftskonsesjon for Nussir og Ulveryggen kobberforekomst. Tiltakshaver: Nussir ASA". Vår ref. 17/ 4845-30 14.02.2019. Retrieved from <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/globalassets/departementene/nfd/dokumenter/nussir-asa--</u> <u>-driftskonsesjon-for-repparfjord-kobberforekomst.pdf</u>
- TIF Ministry 2014. "Regulations on Environmental Impact Assessment for plans pursuant to the Norwegian Planning and Building Act". Retrieved from <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/f25837cb4dd045738e091f093ab06ccc/regul</u> <u>ations environmental impact assessment for plans.pdf</u>
- Varjopuro R., Gray T., Hatchard J., Rauschmayer F., and Wittmer H. 2008. "Introduction: Interaction between Environment and Fisheries-The Role of Stakeholder Participation." Marine Policy vol.32 (2) p. 147-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2007.09.001</u>.
- Vaus, David A. de. 2001. "Part I: What Is Research Design?" In Research Design in Social Research. Saga Publisher.
- United Nations. 1972. "Report of the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment." Stockholm.
- Wayne C. Thompson (2012). "The World Today Series. Nordic, Central &Southereasterns Europe."Nordic, Central and Southeastern Europe. Rowman & Littlefield Education. 12:568
- Wittmer H., Rauschmayer F., and Klauer B.. 2006. "How to Select Instruments for the Resolution of Environmental Conflicts?" Land Use Policy, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2004.09.003</u>.
- Yin, Robert K. 2008. "Case Study Research: Design and Methods Applied Social Research Methods: Case Study Research: Design and Methods Applied Social Research Methods." SAGE Publications, Inc. <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0002822310014811</u>.
- 10 stakeholders. 2015. "Fiskeri- Og Oppdrettsinteresser Sammen Mot Gruvedumping i Repparfjorden i Finnmark."

Online sources

- Earthworks.Org.n.d. "Repparfjord". Earthworks.Org.Stories.Kvalsund. <u>https://earthworks.org/stories/kvalsund/</u> (Accessed May 06 2019)
- Eilertsen Hege.2019. "Nussir Gets Operating License Environmental Organisations Rage". Highnorthnews.Com. <u>https://www.highnorthnews.com/en/nussir-gets-</u> <u>operating-license-environmental-organisations-rage</u> (Accessed May 06 2019)
- Friends of the Earth International.Org.2015 "Time to Protect the Norwegian Fjords and Our Common Sea - Friends of the Earth International." FOEI.Org <u>https://www.foei.org/news/time-to-protect-the-norwegian-fjords-and-our-common-sea</u> (Accessed April 20 2019)
- Klo, Allan, and Rolf Jakobsen. n.d. "Finnmarkningen Says No to Nussir NRK Finnmark -Local News, TV and Radio." (Accessed May 15 2019) <u>https://www.nrk.no/finnmark/finnmarkingene-sier-nei-til-nussir-1.13672367</u>.
- Knudsen C. & Solsvik T. 2019. "Norway's PM Solberg forms majority centre-right government". Reuters.Com. <u>https://uk.reuters.com/article/uk-norway-</u> <u>government/norways-pm-solberg-forms-majority-centre-right-government-</u> <u>idUKKCN1PB2MY?il=0</u> (Accessed on May 14 2019)
- Lovdata.No.2005. "Lov om rettsforhold og forvaltning av grunn og naturressurser i Finnmark fylke (finnmarksloven)".Lobdata.No <u>https://lovdata.no/dokument/NL/lov/2005-06-17-85?fbclid=lwAR3pLcYeCabnNR-</u> <u>AaV7SPuref0gIPYtdx1TxIIzwtca3suMa3VOSd0oeEHs</u> (Accessed May 08 2019)
- Mariela Idivuoma. 2019. NRK Sapmi. NRK.No. "Nussir Saken: Her Er Argumentene NRK Sápmi.". <u>https://www.nrk.no/sapmi/nussir-saken_-her-er-argumentene-</u> <u>1.14440751</u> (Accedded April 30 2019)
- MillienniumAssessement.Org."Overview of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment".MillienniumAssesement.Org. <u>https://www.millenniumassessment.org/en/About.html#</u> (Accessed May 17 2019)
- Moderniseringsdepartementet. Regjerningen.No. "Kvalsund Kommune Innsigelse Til Reguleringsplan for Nussir Og Ulveryggen,". <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/Kvalsund-kommune---innsigelse-til-</u> <u>reguleringsplan-for-Nussir-og-Ulveryggen/id753930/</u> (Accessed May 02 2019)

Nilsen, Thomas (a). 2019. TheBarentObserver.Org. "Moscow Worried about Norway's

Decision to Dump Mining Waste into Arctic Fjord. <u>https://thebarentsobserver.com/en/ecology/2019/02/moscow-worried-about-norways-plan-dump-mining-waste-</u> <u>repparfjord?fbclid=lwAR1iyE6RvZb8ZTp2R4kVWF3z3rGL2JYIMTZp5w52nHtbR40D</u>

G08HmRUQvwg (Accessed May 03 2019)

Nielsen, Thomas (b). 2019. TheBarentObserver.Com. <u>https://thebarentsobserver.com/en/industry-and-energy/2019/04/repparfjord-copper-</u> <u>mine</u> (Accessed May 02 2019)

- Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment. Regjerningen.No. "Nature Diversity Act" (2009). <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/en/find-document/dep/KLD/acts-and-regulations/acts/nature-diversity-act/id570549/</u> (Accessed May 19 2019)
- Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment. Regjerningen.No. "Nature Diversity Act-Act of 19 June 2009 No.100 Relating to the Management of Biological, Geological and Landscape Diversity." <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/en/dokumenter/nature-diversityact/id570549/</u> (Accessed April 28 2019)

Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment, Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation. Regjerningen.No. "Ministry of Climate and Environment Upholds Permit for Mining Activities at Nussir and Ulveryggen."https://www.regjeringen.no/en/aktuelt/ministry-of-climate-andenvironment-upholds-permit-for-mining-activitiesat-nussir-and-ulveryggen/id2524800/ (Accessed April 30 2019)

Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Regjerningen.No. "Norway's Follow-up of Agenda 2030 and the Sustainable Development Goals." <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/en/dokumenter/follow-up-sdg2/id2507259/</u> (Accessed 1 May 2019)

- Norwegian Ministry of Local Governement and Modernisation. Regjerningen.No. "Planning and Building Act (2008)." <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/en/find-document/dep/KMD/Actsand-regulations/Acts/planning-building-act/id570450/</u> (Accessed May 20 2019)
- Office of the Prime Minister. Regjerningen.No."The ocean-Norway's proud history",<u>https://www.regjeringen.no/en/aktuelt/the-ocean--norways-proudhistory/id2615839/</u> (Accessed April 18 2019)

RealWorldRadio."'Nothing Is Lost yet' Norway: permit granted to mining project that violates environmental national law and threatens indigenous people will be appealed".RWR.Fm. <u>https://rwr.fm/interviews/nothing-is-lost-yet/</u> (Accessed April 30)

2019)

- Rør, Anders Vieth. "Reppardfjord/Nussir copper mining case, Norway".Ejatlas.Org. https://ejatlas.org/conflict/reppardfjord-nussir-case (Accessed May 2 2019)
- Staalesen, Atle. 2018. TheBarentObserver.Com. "Rebel Region Finnmark Slams Door to Oslo Government | The Independent Barents Observer." <u>https://thebarentsobserver.com/en/life-and-public/2018/08/rebel-region-finnmark-slams-door-oslo-government</u> (Accessed 10 May 2019)
- Sutterud Tone, Ulven Elisabeth. 2016. *TheGuardian.Com.* "Norway and Turkey Vote against Ban on Dumping Mining Waste at Sea". <u>https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2016/sep/14/norway-and-turkey-vote-against-ban-on-dumping-mining-waste-at-sea</u> (Accessed 15 May 2019)
- Tina Andersen. New Internationalist.Org. "Risking Fjords for Profit? Norway's Dirty Mining Story". https://newint.org/blog/2014/10/02/norway-fjords-mining-waste (Accessed May 02 2019)

WorldBank.Org. "Stakeholder Analysis". WorldBank.Org. <u>http://www1.worldbank.org/publicsector/anticorrupt/PoliticalEconomy/stakeholderanaly</u> <u>sis.htm?fbclid=IwAR3i5pWn09TLn12rYeXlaKkzL6QU4ttHE1Th6SGeQWsONU7k9IN</u> <u>mCRUN0qI</u> (Accessed May 10 2019)